University of Texas Rio Grande Valley ScholarWorks @ UTRGV

Theses and Dissertations - UTRGV

7-2023

The role of TC-PTP-mediated suppression of autophagy during skin carcinogenesis

Obed Asare The University of Texas Rio Grande Valley

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.utrgv.edu/etd

Part of the Biochemistry Commons

Recommended Citation

Asare, Obed, "The role of TC-PTP-mediated suppression of autophagy during skin carcinogenesis" (2023). *Theses and Dissertations - UTRGV*. 1315. https://scholarworks.utrgv.edu/etd/1315

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by ScholarWorks @ UTRGV. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations - UTRGV by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ UTRGV. For more information, please contact justin.white@utrgv.edu, william.flores01@utrgv.edu.

THE ROLE OF TC-PTP-MEDIATED SUPPRESSION OF AUTOPHAGY DURING SKIN CARCINOGENESIS

A Thesis by OBED ASARE

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Major Subject: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology

The University of Texas Rio Grande Valley

July 2023

THE ROLE OF TC-PTP-MEDIATED SUPPRESSION

OF AUTOPHAGY DURING SKIN

CARCINOGENESIS A Thesis by OBED ASARE

COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Dr. Dae Joon Kim Chair of Committee

Dr. Robert Dearth Committee Member

Dr. Yonghong Zhang Committee Member

Dr. Bilal Bin Hafeez Committee Member

Dr. Manish Tripathi

Committee Member

July 2023

Copyright 2023 Obed Asare All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Asare, Obed, <u>The role of TC-PTP-mediated suppression of autophagy during skin</u> carcinogenesis. Master of Science (MS), July, 2023, 85 pp., 1 table, references, 209 titles.

Ultraviolet B (UVB) radiation can distort cellular homeostasis and predispose the skin to carcinogenesis. Amongst the deteriorating effects of the sun's UVB radiation on cellular homeostasis is the formation of DNA photoproducts such as cyclobutene pyrimidine dimers. These photoproducts can cause significant changes in the structure and conformation of the DNA, inducing gene mutations which may accumulate to trigger the formation of skin cancer. Photoproducts are typically repaired by nucleotide excision repair. Notwithstanding, when the repair mechanism fails, apoptosis ensues to prevent the accumulation of mutations and to restore cellular homeostasis. We have identified T-cell protein tyrosine phosphatase (TC-PTP) as a positive regulator of UVB-induced apoptosis and our findings suggest that TC-PTP protects keratinocytes from UVB-induced skin carcinogenesis by inhibiting autophagy-mediated cell survival and proliferation of damaged keratinocytes. This implies that design of therapeutics to target TC-PTP could help in the prevention and treatment of skin cancers.

DEDICATION

A special dedication to the LORD most high for his faithfulness in my journey, and to family and loved ones for their prayers and unflinching support.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My utmost gratitude to my dissertation committee chair and mentor, Dr. Dae Joon Kim, for his immense support, guidance and mentoring from the start to the finish of my master's degree. I would like to especially thank him for his availability to advise anytime I encountered roadblocks in my experiments. Special thanks to my dissertation committee members: Dr. Robert Dearth, Dr. Bilal Hafeez, and Dr. Manish Tripathi for their inputs and constructive comments regarding my thesis. Special thanks to my lab members: Lindsey Shim and Elian Martin for their support throughout my stay in the lab. I would also say a big thank you to research assistants in the University of Texas Rio Grande Valley Biomedical Research Facility, notably, Dr. Anupam Dhasmana, Dr. Swati Dhasmana, Dr. Neeraj Chauhan, Dr. Sahir Alvi, Dr. Kyle Doxtater, and Dr. Mudassier Ahmad for their advice and constructive suggestions towards my experiments.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRAC		i
DEDICAT	IONiv	1
ACKNOW	LEDGMENTS	1
TABLE O	F CONTENTS	i
LIST OF T	ABLESvii	i
LIST OF F	IGURESix	C
CHAPTER	I. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Statement of the Problem 1	L
1.2	Statement of the Purpose	2
CHAPTER	R II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE 4	ł
2.1	Cancer and Cancer Epidemiology 4	ŀ
2.1.2	Skin Carcinogenesis	5
2.2	Discovery of PTPs and their role in cancer	5
2.2.1	Dynamics of PTP signaling in response to UVB irradiation	3
2.2.2	Stimulation of epidermal-specific PTPs in response to UVB irradiation)
2.2.3	Epidermal-specific TC-PTP 12	2
2.3 UVB it	Signal Transduction Pathways regulated by epidermal-specific TC-PTP following	1
2.3.1	STAT-3 signaling	5
2.3.2	AKT signaling)
2.3.3	JNK signaling	ł
2.4	Autophagy	3
2.4.1	The autophagy process)
2.4.2	Regulation of autophagy	L
2.4.3	Crosstalk between autophagy and apoptosis	2
2.4.4	The dual role of autophagy in cancer	5
2.4.5	Targeting autophagy as a treatment approach in cancer	5

CHAPTER III. MATERIALS AND METHODS	38	
3.1 Cell culture and exposure to UVB	38	
3.2 Generation of knockout cell line	38	
3.3 Cell Proliferation and Cytotoxicity Assay	39	
3.4 Preparation of Whole Cell Lysate and western blot analysis	39	
3.5 Analysis of UVB-induced apoptosis in HaCaT cells	40	
3.6 Statistical Methods	41	
CHAPTER IV. RESULTS	42	
4.1 Establishment and characterization of HaCaT TC-PTP knockout cells	42	
4.2 TC-PTP regulates autophagy	48	
4.3 TC-PTP deficiency correlates with increased Akt and Src signaling	58	
CHAPTER V. DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	60	
REFERENCES	63	
APPENDIX	82	
BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH		

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: List of some reagents used with the manufacturers and catalogue numbers	33
--	----

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Schematic representation of cancer-promoting signal transduction pathways that are
downregulated by TC-PTP in UVB-mediated skin carcinogenesis
Figure 2.1: HaCaT reverse transfection with Lipofectamine 3000
Figure 2.2: HaCaT clones exhibit similar morphological characteristics
Figure 2.3.1: HaCaT clones exhibit similar growth characteristics
Figure 2.3.2: HaCaT clones exhibit similar growth characteristics
Figure 3.1: LC3 puncta formation in mRFP-EGFP-LC3B-transfected keratinocytes
Figure 3.2: Dose-dependent assessment of the viability of cells
Figure 3.3: HaCaT keratinocyte response post-UVB irradiation
Figure 3.4: LC3 increases in a time-dependent manner in TC-PTP deficient cells
Figure 4.1: Inhibition of early-phase autophagy decreases proliferation of TC-PTP/KO cells 52
Figure 5.1: Inhibition of late-phase autophagy decreases proliferation of TC-PTP/KO 53
Figure 6.1: TC-PTP deficiency correlates with decreased UVB-induced apoptosis
Figure 6.2: TC-PTP deficiency correlates with decreased UVB-induced apoptosis
Figure 7.1: TC-PTP deficiency correlates with increased Akt and Src signaling 59

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Statement of the Problem

In many regions, skin cancer mostly affects fair-skinned populations and as such poses serious health problems across the globe. In the United States, for instance, skin cancer is the most prevalent type of cancer as it outnumbers all the other types of cancers combined. The sun's ultraviolet (UV) radiation is a major known etiologic factor that drives the formation of skin cancers (Gupta et al., 2016; Guy et al., 2015). UV radiation penetrates to the earth's surface owing to factors such as weather, UV light elevation, and most notably ozone layer depletion. Lifestyle habits such as prolonged sun bath or indoor tanning also predispose the skin to carcinogenesis (Urban et al., 2021). Phototherapy, one of the current therapeutic techniques that uses ultraviolet radiation, can also cause the development of skin cancers (Raone et al., 2018). In addition to causing DNA damage and mutations, UV radiation also stimulates a myriad of cell signaling pathways that are associated with cell division, proliferation, and migration. One major signal transduction pathway of concern in UV-induced skin carcinogenesis is tyrosine phosphorylation signaling which is facilitated by the action of protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs) on specific tyrosine residues. Following UV-induced activation of PTKs, they in turn activate downstream signaling pathways such as such as epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), signal transducer and activator of transcription

(STAT) and PI3K/AKT that promote the survival and proliferation of precancerous cells leading to photocarcinogenesis. Inhibition of these pathways can contribute to the reduction of UVB-induced damage in skin (Bowden, 2004; Melnikova & Ananthaswamy, 2005; Rho et al., 2011).

Interestingly, not only does UVB stimulate tumor-promoting pathways, but it can also stimulate tumor-suppressive pathways that reverse the action of PTKs via tyrosine dephosphorylation as an initial attempt to contain the disturbance in epidermal homeostasis. Protein tyrosine phosphatases (PTPs) mediate these tyrosine dephosphorylation reactions and as such can counteract UVB-induced activation of cancer-promoting pathways. TC-PTP is one of the members of the PTP family that has been shown to increase UVB-induced apoptosis in keratinocytes via the downregulation of Flk-1/JNK signaling (Baek et al., 2018). This implies that loss of TC-PTP causes resistance to apoptosis in UVB-damaged keratinocytes.

1.2 Statement of the Purpose

This study seeks to elucidate the interplay between autophagy and apoptosis, and how TC-PTP influences the fate of cells regarding those two mechanisms. From literature, autophagy is known to play a major role during the initiation of tumors and as such has been linked to the apoptotic signaling pathway. In brief, autophagy can have a dual role depending on the cellular context by either upregulating or downregulating the apoptotic pathway, with the latter ensuring the proliferation of damaged cells as a cell survival mechanism (Su et al., 2013a; Xi et al., 2022). While the absence of TC-PTP in cells caused a significant downregulation of UVB-induced apoptosis in comparison to wildtype controls, this deficiency was accompanied by a significant upregulation of autophagy post-UVB irradiation. This suggests that TC-PTP plays an important

role in the sequestration and death of damaged keratinocytes via the inhibition of the autophagic pathway. Also, in a previous study, we identified SRC/AMPK pathway as a positive regulator or autophagy following cisplatin treatment (Kim et al., 2017). This confirms the fact that autophagy-mediated cell survival can be subjected to regulation by some cancerous signaling pathways. Based on these findings, we hypothesize that inhibition of autophagy by TC-PTP is a critical signaling mechanism for UVB-induced apoptosis during tumor initiation and this makes it a therapeutic target for the prevention and treatment of skin cancers.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

2.1 Cancer and Cancer Epidemiology

Cancer is a complicated disease characterized by uncontrolled growth and spread of abnormal cells. Naturally, cells divide to allow growth and replacement of senescent cells. This process involves complex mechanisms and hence requires proper controls to maintain cellular homeostasis. These controls exist as genes and they include proto-oncogenes, tumor suppressor genes and DNA repair genes. Proto-oncogenes normally permit cell division and growth whereas tumor suppressor genes serve as molecular brakes that slow down cell division to maintain balance. DNA repair genes on the other hand fix any errors in the DNA as the cells divide and they may trigger the sequestration of cells with unrepairable errors. However, if the functions of these genes dysregulated, cells divide uncontrollably leading to cancer (Loeb & Harris, 2008). Typically, gain-of-function mutations in proto-oncogenes and/or loss-of-function mutations in tumor suppressor genes and DNA repair genes can cause cancerous growth of cells in any tissue or organ including the skin (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000).

The cancer mortality rate across the globe has remained alarming with its occurrences expected to rise in the coming years owing to aging populations and lifestyle changes such as unhealthy diets, tobacco use, and exposure to ultraviolet radiation, just to name but a few (Bhatia et al., 2009). Over the years, cancer research has gained much attention with great advancements leading to design of new treatments such as chemotherapy, radiation therapy, and targeted therapy to ameliorate pathology (Howlader et al., n.d.).

2.1.2 Skin Carcinogenesis

Skin cells may undergo malignant transformations due to genetic changes under the influence of intrinsic factors such as genetic predisposition and/or environmental factors such as chemical carcinogens and ultraviolet radiation. Globally, skin cancer is the most common type of cancer, with incident rates higher than all other cancers combined (Lomas et al., 2012; Sung et al., 2021).

The process of skin carcinogenesis begins with the initiation stage, which is characterized by the gain-of-function mutation of proto-oncogenes into oncogenes or the loss-of-function mutation of tumor suppressor genes due to genetic predisposition or exposure to carcinogens (Glickman & Sawyers, 2012). The initiated cells clonally expand and form preneoplastic lesions such as actinic keratosis in the promotion stage (Cullen & Sprague, 2012). Lastly, the preneoplastic cells acquire additional mutations that preferentially permit their growth leading to the development of invasive cancer (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011).

A myriad of factors predisposes an individual to the development of skin cancer, and they include sun exposure, skin type, and genetic makeup amongst others. Due to the protective function of melanin against UV radiation, individuals with fair skin, blue or green eyes, red or blond hair for instance are more prone to skin cancer than dark-skinned people even in the same geographic area (Green et al., 2011). Chronic exposure to the sun (Armstrong & Kricker, 2001) and artificial sources of UV radiation such as tanning lamps and beds increase an individual's

risks of skin cancer (Boniol et al., 2012). Other individuals are predisposed to skin cancer by inheriting certain gene mutations that cause high risk genetic syndromes such as xeroderma pigmentosum and basal cell nevus syndrome (Begg et al., 2006; Kraemer et al., 1994).

UV radiation is one main factor that contributes to skin carcinogenesis. The malignant transformation caused by UV in the skin can be classified into basal cell carcinomas, squamous cell carcinomas, and cutaneous melanomas. The three main ranges of UV radiation are UVA (315-400 nm), UVB (280-315 nm), and UVC (100-280 nm). It is worth mentioning that UVB is the most carcinogenic and can damage DNA to cause mutations (Ichihashi et al., 2003; Kraemer, 1997; Sarasin, 1999). Typically, it causes the formation of thymine dimers and cyclobutene pyrimidine dimers that yield mutations in crucial genes that are frequently detected in skin cancers such as p53 gene (Brash et al., 1991, 1996; Ziegler et al., 1994). Other mutations often identified involve the CDKN2A gene which expresses the p16 tumor suppressor, and the BRAF and NRAS oncogenes (Sung et al., 2021).

2.2 Discovery of PTPs and their role in cancer

PTPs work by negatively regulating the overall rate and duration of phosphotyrosine signal transduction (Lemmon & Schlessinger, 2010; Stoker, 2005; Tonks & Neel, 1996). Nearly ten years following the discovery of PTKs, Nicholas Tonks and his colleagues made an initial report on PTPs (Tonks et al., 1988). Since their discovery, scientists have searched the human genome database and identified about 107 tyrosine phosphatases that also contain the conserved catalytic domain of the PTP family of proteins (Alonso et al., 2004; Julien et al., 2011). However, information regarding the activation of PTPs in their regulation of tyrosine

phosphorylation signaling has remained scanty. PTPs can be classified into four main groups based on the sequence of amino acids that exist in their catalytic domains. Out of the four classes, the most ubiquitous is the class I cysteine based PTPs, and they consist of approximately 99 members with about 38 of them tagged as classical PTPs due to their strict specificity for phosphotyrosine residues. These classical PTPs can further be subcategorized into two groups namely, nonreceptor-like PTPs and receptor-like PTPs (Stephens et al., 1998; Tabernero et al., 2008; Tiganis & Bennett, 2007; Tonks, 2006).

Functional research has demonstrated that PTPs also play a vital role in the development of cancers just as PTKs and thus further research into elucidating their exact roles cannot be underemphasized (Östman et al., 2006; Tonks, 2006). While a good majority of about 38 of the classical PTPs suppress tumors in varied kinds of human cancers, about 11 other members of this same family with oncogenic characteristics that support the proliferation of tumor cells (Hendriks et al., 2008; Julien et al., 2011). Thus, the development of inhibitors as effective anticancer drugs to target oncogenic PTPs has been the therapeutic approach in some cancers (Bialy et al., 2005; Tautz & Mustelin, 2007). Also, there is a possibility of detecting mutated forms of the tumor suppressive PTPs in cancer cells. However, there is no conclusive designation of a PTP as an oncogene or tumor suppressor due to the two-edged role of some PTPs in the same or in different types of cancers. Activation mutations of SH2 containing protein tyrosine phosphatase-2 (SHP2) for instance, have been reported in leukemias (Chan & Feng, 2007; Tartaglia et al., 2001; Tartaglia & Gelb, 2005). In addition, it has been demonstrated that it stimulates Ras-ERK signaling by growth factors and hormones. In contrast, SHP2 is known to suppress the proliferation of tumor cells in hepatocellular carcinogenesis via a STAT3-mediated regulation of inflammatory signaling (Bard-Chapeau et al., 2011). Even more interestingly,

PTPD1 has been reported to act both as a tumor suppressor and an oncogene in investigations on colorectal cancer (Julien et al., 2011; Korff et al., 2008). Considering these contradictory context-dependent observations, it is imperative to gain a thorough comprehension of the role of PTPs in cancers to guide the exploitation of PTPs as therapeutic targets for cancer therapy.

2.2.1 Dynamics of PTP signaling in response to UVB irradiation

A study by Hendriks et al., (1996) employed the use of cDNA probes that are complimentary to 13 different PTPs to investigate their different expressions in keratinocytes. Interestingly, 7 of the 13 PTPs examined were present in non-transformed cells with their level of expression remaining constant during cellular differentiation. This was evident by the plateau in the level of their mRNA expression in the strata of mice epidermis. Notwithstanding, when expression levels were compared between the mouse epidermal cells and keratinocyte cells, a significant difference in expression level was observed. It was therefore inferred that PTPs regulate the proliferation and maturation of keratinocytes through phosphotyrosine signal transduction within the cells. It is worth mentioning that the expression of $PTP\kappa$, which belongs to the receptor-type PTP family, was remarkably high in the keratinocyte cell line but comparatively low in the mouse epidermal cells. Owing to the existence of β - and χ -catenin, and the possible interactions between them at adherens junctions, PTPk has been demonstrated to have a mediatory function in homophilic cell-cell interactions. Although it is widely expressed throughout human tissues, it is most frequently expressed in the gallbladder and colon (Jiang et al., 1993). A study by Yang et al., (1996) has demonstrated that induced expression of PTPk

under the control of TGF β 1 is implicated in the inhibition of growth and proliferation of human keratinocytes.

A microarray analysis of a type of skin cancer, specifically, melanoma showed that the level of expression of PTPs was remarkably downregulated in contrast to healthy controls (McArdle et al., 2001, 2005). However, the activation of PTKs increases independent of a ligand when irradiated with UV, suggesting the potency of UV exposure to mediate PTP inactivation (Coffer et al., 1995; Sachsenmaier et al., 1994). Several studies including biochemical analysis have reported on the effect of UV irradiation on PTPs and this could be accounted for by the UV-induced generation of reactive oxygen species that oxidize the conserved cysteine residues within the catalytic domain of PTPs (Caselli et al., 1998; Denu & Tanner, 2002; Tonks, 2005). Reactive oxygen species generated post-UV exposure indirectly inhibited the apoptotic pathway in human keratinocytes via an upregulation of EGFR tyrosine phosphorylation with a concomitant downregulation of PTPk activity (Xu et al., 2006). There are two known mechanisms by which UVA cause PTP inactivation. For instance, it has been reported to generate singlet oxygen that oxidizes cysteine residues in the active site of PTP1B to inactive it (von Montfort et al., 2006). UVA can also stimulate proteolytic degradation and hence inactivation of PTP1B in keratinocytes via a calcium-dependent activation of calpain (Gulati et al., 2004).

2.2.2 Stimulation of epidermal-specific PTPs in response to UVB irradiation

In a previous study, we investigated how three specific PTPs namely TC-PTP, SHP1 and SHP2 work together to dephosphorylate STAT3 protein after exposing keratinocytes to UVB

irradiation. Following a knock-down of all three PTPs simultaneously using siRNA and exposure to UVB, we observed a significantly increased phosphorylation of STAT3 specifically on Tyrosine 705 (PY-STAT3) in wildtype keratinocytes in contrast to keratinocytes in which TC-PTP only has been knocked down or in tandem with either SHP1 or SHP2 knockdown. However, knockdown of all three PTPs in keratinocytes was not accompanied by complete restoration of phosphorylated STAT3 levels following UVB irradiation (Kim et al., 2010). This suggested that STAT3 dephosphorylation required the synergistic activity of more than seven PTPs and that their expression depends on the cellular context (Kim et al., 2018). The possibility of several other PTPs participating in the observed UVB-induced phosphorylation of STAT3 therefore triggers the need for extensive research into the regulation of STAT3 dephosphorylation by PTPs. A comprehensive understanding of this regulation can inform on the exploitation of PTPs as a treatment option. Upon exposure of mice skin to UVB radiation, the phosphorylation of STAT3 drastically decreased, which was reflected by the initial reduction in the expression of PY-STAT3 protein. However, the expression of PY-STAT3 was observed to recuperate at later time points (Kim et al., 2010). These findings indicate that UVB exposure triggers the activation of PTP, which leads to the downregulation of STAT3 signaling via the dephosphorylation of PY-STAT3. This process of PTP activation can occur repeatedly with each subsequent irradiation with UV. In keratinocytes irradiated with low doses of UVB, the expression of PY-STAT3 protein markedly decreased, which followed a similar pattern to the observed expression of PY-STAT3 in murine epidermis following UVB exposure. However, after eight hours of UVB treatment, the expression of PY-STAT3 was restored. Reirradiation of the keratinocytes after three hours however led to another reduction in the expression of PY-STAT3. Strikingly, when the keratinocytes were exposed to UVB for the second time, the

observed PY-STAT3 expression was significantly lower than that observed with the initial exposure. The results of these studies suggest that the activation of PTP plays a crucial role in protecting cells from the abrupt increase in PY-STAT3 levels that occurs after exposure to UVB irradiation. This is consistent with findings from previous research that have shown that PY-STAT3 expression in keratinocytes increases 24h after exposure to low levels of UVB irradiation and is accompanied by an increase in cell proliferation (Kim et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2015).

Research using mice with either deficient STAT3 expression in their epidermal tissue or with constitutively active form of STAT3 in their epidermis has shown that the STAT3 signaling pathway is activated upon exposure of mice skin to UVB irradiation. This pathway is important for the survival of keratinocytes that have been damaged by the irradiation and contributes to their proliferation during the development of UVB-induced skin carcinogenesis (Kim et al., 2009; Rho et al., 2011). The results from this study suggest that repetitive stimulation of the STAT3 pathway by recurrent exposure to UVB irradiation can promote the initiation and progression of skin cancer.

In summary, repeated activation of PTPs can prevent UVB-induced skin carcinogenesis by downregulating STAT3 signaling and hence PY-STAT3 expression. However, in the event where PTP signaling is lacking, STAT3 activation is upregulated to a level that is similar to that reported in mice with a constitutively active form of STAT3 (K5.Stat3C mice) (Chan et al., 2009; Kim et al., 2009). We can conclude based on these findings that UV irradiation can either activate PTPs such as TC-PTP or inactivate others such as PTPk and PTP1B. Further studies are needed to understand how some PTPs protect their catalytic cysteines from oxidation by reactive oxygen species to prevent their deactivation and how other PTPs are stimulated by UV exposure. Such studies could unveil important insights into the protective role of PTPs in the development of UVB-induced skin cancer.

2.2.3 Epidermal-specific TC-PTP

TC-PTP is a nonreceptor PTP that is expressed from PTPN2 gene. It is found in several different types of cells in both embryos and adults (Bourdeau et al., 2005; Cool et al., 1989; Kamatkar et al., 1996; Mosinger et al., 1992; Tillmann et al., 1994). Research using mice that do not express TC-PTP due to transgenic knockout has demonstrated that TC-PTP is very important for the development of blood cells and for the immune system to work properly. In this experiment, they found that the homozygous knockout mice died prematurely after 5 weeks due defects in hematopoiesis (You-Ten et al., 1997). TC-PTP plays a role in the regulation of insulin and leptin signaling, which are important in diabetes and obesity, respectively (Dodd et al., 2015, 2017; Loh et al., 2011; Zhang et al., 2015). With regards to cancer, studies have shown that TC-PTP can both suppress and promote tumor growth depending on the specific type of cancer. For instance, it has been reported to suppress the progression of breast and liver cancers (Grohmann et al., 2018; Karlsson et al., 2015; Kleppe et al., 2010; Shields et al., 2013; Wang et al., 2014), but it can contribute to the development of lymphoma and lung cancer (Manguso et al., 2017). TC-PTP has also been reported to resist the effectiveness of immunotherapy by downregulating IFNc signaling. Therefore, it is important to have a thorough understanding of the specific molecular mechanisms of TC-PTP in each type of cancer to guide its exploitation for effective therapy.

The PTPN2 gene can express two isoforms of TC-PTP due to alternative splicing. These two types are known as TC45 (TC-PTPa) and TC48 (TC-PTPb). TC45 is the more common form in most species and is found in the nucleus whereas TC48 is found in the endoplasmic reticulum (Bourdeau et al., 2005; Kamatkar et al., 1996; Tillmann et al., 1994). In keratinocytes, TC-PTP in addition to two other PTPs namely, SHP1 and SHP2 are involved in STAT3 dephosphorylation. This dephosphorylation can affect the signaling of STAT3 when the cells are exposed to UVB irradiation or not (Kim et al., 2010; Lee et al., 2015). Normally, TC-PTP is known to be located in the nucleus of a cell because of two specific signals, called NLSI and NLSII, that are found in its C-terminus region. These two signals are responsible for the confinement of TC-PTP in the nucleus (ten Hoeve et al., 2002; Tiganis et al., 1997; Tillmann et al., 1994). However, in our studies of keratinocytes, we found that TC-PTP is actually located in the cytoplasm of cells as opposed to reports from other studies. We also found that following UVB irradiation, TC-PTP translocate to the nucleus where its activity gets upregulated (Kim et al., 2017). UVB radiation has been shown to activate AKT signaling in keratinocytes, which causes two other proteins, TC45 and 14-3-38, to move to the nucleus. Alterations of the 14-3-38 binding regions in TC45 at Thr179 residue disrupted the direct interaction of TC45 and 14-3-38, preventing TC45 from translocating to the nucleus. Also, NLSII deletion obstructed nuclear translocation of TC45, and this buttresses that fact that nuclear translocation of TC45 requires both NLSII and Thr179 phosphorylation. Hence NLSII deletion and/or T179 mutation increased PY-STAT3 expression significantly in keratinocytes following UVB irradiation. In keratinocytes that have been engineered to overexpress TC45/T179A, UVB-induced apoptosis was significantly reduced, and this was accompanied by an increase in cell proliferation. AKT and 14-3-3 δ proteins collaborate to facilitate the relocation of TC45 from the cytoplasm to the

nucleus of epidermal keratinocytes when exposed to UVB. This translocation event plays a crucial role in the suppression of tumor initiation by downregulating STAT3 signaling to cause the eradication of DNA-damaged cells (Kim et al., 2017).

2.3 Signal Transduction Pathways regulated by epidermal-specific TC-PTP following UVB irradiation

According to reports from a study using TC-PTP deficient mouse keratinocytes, cell proliferation increases substantially as opposed to the sequestration of UVB-damaged cells following exposure to UVB due to the lack of TC-PTP. This observed effect could be accounted for by activated STAT3 signaling which is highly implicated in skin carcinogenesis. On the other hand, when TC-PTP was constitutively expressed in keratinocytes, there was a remarkable reduction in cell survival and proliferation as well as STAT3 signaling following UVB irradiation (Lee et al., 2015). The COSMIC database, which is a collection of expert-curated information on genetic mutations in cancers, does not show any evidence that PTPN2 mutations are involved in human skin cancer. This suggests that there may be a mechanism that maintains the expression and function of TC-PTP in skin cells. Recent reports have demonstrated that both human and mice skin cancer cells express lower levels of TC-PTP compared to normal skin cells (Kim et al., 2020). These findings suggest that targeting and manipulating the signaling pathways regulated by epidermal TC-PTP following UVB irradiation, specifically the STAT3, JNK, and AKT pathways, could potentially be a way to block skin carcinogenesis.



Figure 1.1: Schematic representation of cancer-promoting signal transduction pathways that are downregulated by TC-PTP in UVB-mediated skin carcinogenesis

Upon exposure to UVB radiation, the skin initiates a cascade of responses, including the activation of TC-PTP. TC-PTP activation leads to an increase in apoptosis to sequester damaged cells in the epidermis. Concurrently, there is a decrease in cell proliferation caused by downregulation of signaling pathways such as STAT3, AKT, and JNK, mediated by TC-PTP through dephosphorylation mechanisms. The dephosphorylation of these signaling pathways may occur either directly or indirectly. As a result, the continuous exposure of skin to UVB radiation leads to reduced skin cancer formation. Therefore, TC-PTP signaling plays a crucial role in skin cancer prevention. TC-PTP, T-cell protein tyrosine phosphatase; STAT3, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3, FLK-1, fetal liver kinase-1; JNK, c-Jun N-terminal kinase.

2.3.1 STAT-3 signaling

STATs are a class of seven proteins that have analogous structures and functions. They all consist of six parts that have been conserved throughout evolution, including a N-terminal domain, a DNA-binding domain, a coiled domain, a linker domain, a C-terminal transactivation domain, and an Src homology domain. These proteins are initially located in the cytoplasm of cells, but when they are activated, they dimerize and translocate to the nucleus. This process can activate the expression of many different genes, which are important for cell growth, proliferation, and differentiation amongst other cellular processes (Akira, 1999; Darnell, 1997; Levy et al., 2002).

STAT activation is triggered by signals from external molecules that associate with receptor tyrosine kinases or from intracellular ligands that lie upstream. Once activated, a crucial tyrosine residue in the STAT protein gets phosphorylated to allow docking of its SH2 domain via JAK phosphorylation. This phosphorylation cascade enables binding and activation of STAT proteins (Kisseleva et al., 2002; Levy et al., 2002). STAT3 plays an important role in cellular responses to signals from cytokines and growth factors (Bowman et al., 2000; Bromberg, 2002; Levy et al., 2002; Levy et al., 2002). When STAT3 is activated by phosphorylation on Tyr705, it can regulate expression of genes that control various physiological processes, including cell division, programmed cell death, and the formation of new blood vessels to nourish tumors, that is, tumor angiogenesis. Normally, the activation of STAT3 is tightly regulated and only occurs in response to select signals. But in cancer cells, this regulation is disrupted, and this leads to constant activation and nuclear translocation. This abnormal stimulation of STAT3 is commonly found in many tumors and even *in vitro* cancer cell lines (Darnell, 1997). When STA3 stimulation is blocked, it can prevent cancer cells from proliferating, suggesting that this protein

plays a crucial role in promoting the proliferation of cancer cells (Bowman et al., 2000; J. Bromberg, 2002; J. F. Bromberg et al., 1999; Turkson & Jove, 2000).

Studies have established the fact that STAT3 performs a critical role in both UVBinduced and chemical-induced skin cancer (Chan et al., 2004; Dae et al., 2007; Kataoka et al., 2008; Kim et al., 2009; Kataoka et al., 2009; Sano et al., 2005, 2008) . To investigate the function of STAT3 in skin photocarcinogenesis, experiments were conducted on genetically modified mice with epidermal-specific STAT3 knockout (K5Cre.Stat3^{fl/fl}) and constitutively active mutant STAT3 (Stat3C) overexpression, specifically in their epidermal proliferative compartment driven by bovine keratin 5 promoter (K5). These investigations demonstrated that STAT3 has a vital role in skin photocarcinogenesis. The mice with skin-specific STAT3 overexpression (K5.Stat3C) showed accelerated skin carcinogenesis when exposed to UVB radiation, whereas mice with STAT3 knockout showed resistance to UVB-mediated skin carcinogenesis with reduced tumor incidence and multiplicity. These findings suggest the crucial role of STAT3 in skin cancer development induced by UVB radiation or chemical carcinogenes.

Further research has demonstrated that the STAT3 phosphorylation is decreased in keratinocytes upon exposure to UVB radiation, although STAT3 plays a crucial role in the development of UVB-induced skin cancer. However, this decline in phosphorylated STAT3 levels can be remarkably restored with treatment with sodium vanadate, which is a pan PTP inhibitor. Additional research has shown that TC-PTP is responsible for UVB-induced dephosphorylation of STAT3 in the skin. In mouse 3PC keratinocytes that were transfected with three distinct siRNA constructs, one for each of three PTPs (TC-PTP, SHP1, and SHP2), PY-STAT3 levels were found to be elevated when compared to control cells transfected with scrambled siRNA. In the presence or absence of UVB irradiation, PY-STAT3 levels were found
to be significantly highest in TC-PTP knockdown keratinocytes when compared to either SHP1 knockdown or SHP2 knockdown keratinocytes. These findings suggest that of the three PTPs investigated, TC-PTP is the primary PTP responsible for the dephosphorylation of STAT3 in the skin in response to UVB radiation.

An investigation by Lee et al. (2015) using 3PC keratinocytes reported on the relationship between TC-PTP expression and STAT3 signal transduction. The experiments included one group of keratinocytes with siRNA-mediated knockdown of TC-PTP and another group that overexpresses TC-PTP to assess the impact of altering TC-PTP expression on PY-STAT3 expression. The outcome revealed a significant inverse relation between TC-PTP expression and STAT3 signaling; decreased TC-PTP expression correlated with increased PY-STAT3 expression, while overexpression of TC-PTP correlated with a decrease in PY-STAT3 expression. Additionally, low-dose UVB irradiation was found to drastically increase the expression of PY-STAT3 after an observed initial decline in siRNA-mediated TC-PTP knockdown keratinocytes compared to control cells. Intriguingly, a comparative study using both partially silenced and completely silenced stable TC-PTP knockdown cell lines generated using shRNA demonstrated that UVB-mediated cell proliferation correlated with the degree of TC-PTP deficiency. The increments recorded for the deficient cells were significantly pronounced in comparison with the control cells. This insight emphasizes the role of TC-PTP in the regulation of cellular responses to UVB irradiation and indicates that variations in TC-PTP expression can impact the extent of UVB-induced cell proliferation. To ascertain that TC-PTP regulates STAT3 signaling in the observed phenomenon, they inhibited STAT3-mediated transcriptional regulation in TC-PTP deficient and control keratinocytes using STA-21 before exposing the cells to UVB radiation. Interestingly, they observed a significant decline in cell proliferation in both

control cells and TC-PTP-deficient cells, indicating that UVB-induced cell proliferation is dependent on TC-PTP-mediated regulation of STAT3 phosphorylation. Overall, the outcomes of the experiments suggest that TC-PTP plays a significant role in the regulation of STAT3 signaling and cell proliferation in 3PC keratinocyte cells following UVB irradiation. In both the loss-of-function and gain-of-function approaches used in this study, the results consistently showed a negative correlation between TC-PTP expression and PY-STAT3 expression.

A mice model study that probed into the role of TC-PTP in UVB-induced epidermal apoptosis demonstrated that TC-PTP protects and helps in the restoration of cellular homeostasis by facilitating the sequestration of UVB-damaged keratinocytes. The study contrasted the apoptotic cell numbers between TC-PTP knockout and wildtype control mice using the caspase-3 assay and observed that the wildtype mice recorded more apoptotic cells than the knockout mice following irradiation with the same dose of UVB. The expression of proapoptotic Bax protein was also reduced in the epidermis of the knockout mice compared to the wildtype mice. On the other hand, the expression antiapoptotic Bcl-xL was significantly higher in the knockout mice compared to the control mice in response to UVB (Baek et al., 2018; Dae et al., 2009).

Considering these findings, it has been observed that PY-STAT3 is highly expressed in both TC-PTP knockout primary keratinocytes and IPKs compared to wildtype primary keratinocytes and their immortalized counterparts. In addition, the increase in PY-STAT3 levels observed in knockout IPKs correlates with a significant increase in cell proliferation and growth, regardless of the presence or absence of UVB irradiation. Taken together, these investigations present compelling evidence that TC-PTP plays an important role in the dephosphorylation of STAT3, which is considered a key target protein involved in epidermal photocarcinogenesis.

2.3.2 AKT signaling

AKT, sometimes referred to as protein kinase B (PKB) or RAC-PK, is a critical serine/threonine kinase that plays a significant role in a variety of physiological responses, including cell proliferation, survival, and angiogenesis. It is one amongst numerous genes that are frequently mutated in a variety of cancers (Altomare & Testa, 2005; Crowell et al., 2007; Manning & Cantley, 2007). AKT is a member of the AGC kinases (Leroux et al., 2018), a group of 63 serine/threonine protein kinases that are related to one another evolutionarily. The protein has four evolutionarily conserved domains: an N-terminal pleckstrin homology (PH) domain, a hinge region, a central kinase catalytic (CAT) domain, and a C-terminal regulatory region. AKT signaling is triggered via the phosphorylation of four residues, with two of them stimulated only by external signals. The primary stimulation occurs through the transfer of phosphoryl moiety to Thr308 in the central kinase domain, while phosphorylation on Ser473 in the C-terminal regulatory domain is crucial for optimal activation. Basal phosphorylation occurs through Thr450 and Ser124, with the former identified as a turn phosphorylation site (T. O. Chan et al., 1999; Hart & Vogt, 2011; Vadlakonda et al., 2013). AKT exists in three isoforms, namely AKT1 (PKBa), AKT2 (PKBb), and AKT3. These isoforms originate from unique genes located on chromosomes 14q32, 19q13, and 1q43, respectively, rendering them distinct from each other.

The activation of AKT proceeds through a step-by-step process that ensues the stimulation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) signaling. This signaling cascade requires both membrane binding and phosphorylation. The PH domains of AKT exhibit roughly 30% similarity with the PH domains found in pleckstrin. The integrity of this PH homology domain significantly affects the translocation and phosphorylation processes (Alessi et al., 1997;

Stephens et al., 1998). According to current understanding, the stimulation process involves segregation between the kinase and PH domains of AKT (Chu et al., 2020).

Activation of the PI3K pathway causes the production of certain molecules known as phosphoinositides, phosphatidyl-inositol-3,4,5-triphosphate (PtdIns-3,4,5-P3), and phosphatidylinositol-3,4-diphosphate (PtdIns-3,4-P2) which interact with the PH domain of AKT and cause it to move from the outer to the inner membrane of the cell. This movement helps AKT to become fully activated through a process involving protein kinases (PDK-1) that phosphorylate it at a particular site (Thr308) (Engelman et al., 2006; Shaw et al., 2006). The second modification of AKT at another site (Ser473) is however still not fully comprehended (Jacinto et al., 2006), with various theories proposing that it may be accomplished through the action of external enzymes, the mTORC2 complex, a PDK1-PRK2 complex, or by autophosphorylation (Gao et al., 2014; Sarbassov et al., 2005; Toker & Newton, 2000). Once activated, AKT goes on to phosphorylate other signaling proteins in the cell such as mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), Forkhead box protein (FOXO) transcription factors, caspase 9, glycogen synthase kinase-3a/b (GSK-3a/b), endothelial nitric oxide synthase and p21 (Cip1/Waf1) among numerous others that possess an R-X-R-X-S/T-B motif (Altomare & Khaled, 2012; Fresno Vara et al., 2004; Grimes & Jope, 2001; Manning & Cantley, 2007; Sarbassov et al., 2005; Yecies & Manning, 2011). These target proteins are involved in a wide range of cellular processes, including cell survival, proliferation, metabolism, and protein synthesis. As such, when this process becomes dysregulated, it can promote the development of cancer in various ways (Revathidevi & Munirajan, 2019; Vivanco & Sawyers, 2002).

Studies have shown that UV can stimulate AKT signaling in the skin. When mouse epidermal cells were exposed to ROS generated in response to UV radiation, AKT got

phosphorylated at two specific sites: Thr308 and Ser473. Moreover, treatment of skin cells with hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) also led to augmented AKT phosphorylation, suggesting that ROS plays a role in this mechanism (C. Huang et al., 2001). Interestingly, when skin cells were treated with an antioxidant called N-acetyl-L-cysteine before exposure to UV radiation, the resultant level of phosphorylation of AKT was significantly reduced. This suggests that the generation of ROS is a crucial factor in facilitating optimal AKT activation. Furthermore, other studies have discovered that UV-induced ROS can inactivate PTP κ , which in turn activates EGFR/HER2 and downstream signaling pathways, including AKT signaling (El-Abaseri et al., 2006; Madson et al., 2009; Xu et al., 2006).

UVB radiation is known to induce apoptosis in human keratinocytes. However, recent reports have shown that this programmed cell death can be inhibited when AKT signaling is stimulated owing to its significant role in the regulation of cell survival and proliferation. One way that AKT hinders apoptosis is by phosphorylating a proapoptotic protein called BAD, which causes it to be sequestered in the cytoplasm and prevents it from triggering the apoptotic program. In addition, AKT can promote cell survival and proliferation by activating mTOR signaling following UVB irradiation (Claerhout et al., 2006). The inhibition of AKT stimulation has been found to markedly enhance the induction of apoptosis in keratinocytes exposed to UVB radiation. This effect is thought to occur through the increased release of mitochondrial cytochrome c, which subsequently triggers the activation of caspases-9, -8, and -3 (Wang et al., 2003). AKT may also activate mTOR and its target proteins downstream to upregulate cell cycle mechanism and proliferation of cells (Han et al., 2009; Strozyk et al., 2013; Wan et al., 2001). These findings suggest that the activation of AKT and mTOR plays a critical role in regulating the apoptotic response to UVB radiation in keratinocytes and may therefore be a potential therapeutic target for the prevention or treatment of UVB-induced skin carcinogenesis.

Findings from experiments involving two groups of mice: one lacking TC-PTP (TC-PTP/KO) and the other expressing increased levels of TC-PTP proved that when a chemical tumor promoter such as 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol-13-acetate (TPA) initiates skin carcinogenesis, AKT serves as a critical downstream target of TC-PTP. Specifically, the study reported significantly higher levels of AKT phosphorylation in both knockout mice and keratinocytes compared to the wildtype controls in response to TPA treatment. It was also revealed that inhibiting AKT in keratinocytes lacking TC-PTP increased the degree of apoptosis in contrast to their wildtype counterparts following treatment with 7,12dimethylbenz[a]anthracene (DMBA). Furthermore, inhibiting AKT also led to a significant reduction in cell proliferation induced by TPA in TC-PTP knockout keratinocytes compared to wildtype counterparts. Additionally, activated AKT levels were significantly higher in papillomas that developed in TC-PTP/KO mice than that observed in control mice (H. Lee et al., 2017).

However, in both the epidermis and keratinocytes overexpressing TC-PTP, the level of AKT phosphorylation was reported to be reduced in comparison to the wildtype controls following treatment with DMBA. When AKT signaling was blocked prior to DMBA treatment, there was significant decrease viable cells in wildtype keratinocytes when compared to those overexpressing TC-PTP. Similarly, the level of AKT activation was diminished in TC-PTP-overexpressing keratinocytes following treatment with TPA as compared to the wildtype keratinocytes. When AKT signaling was inhibited prior to TPA treatment, it was accompanied by a significant decrease in cell proliferation in the wildtype keratinocytes as opposed to those

overexpressing TC-PTP. These reports suggest that TC-PTP can suppress cell proliferation and promote apoptosis in response to chemical toxicants by downregulating AKT signaling (Kim et al., 2020).

Although previous studies have reiterated the role of TC-PTP in the downregulation of AKT phosphorylation in response to chemicals, there is a gap in knowledge regarding its role in UVB-mediated activation of AKT and skin cancer formation. While it was hypothesized based on previous studies that TC-PTP would downregulate activation of AKT to reduce the risk of photocarcinogenesis, it has also been reported that AKT is implicated in the translocation of TC-PTP into the nucleus following UVB irradiation and dephosphorylation of its target by transferring a phosphoryl group to its T179 residue (Kim et al., 2017). This implies the interplay between TC-PTP and AKT signaling in photocarcinogenesis is rather more complex than previously thought. Owing to this, further research is needed to comprehend the mechanisms involved.

2.3.3 JNK signaling

The MAPKs pathway is a highly conserved cell signaling pathway implicated in several cellular processes such as cell proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis in response to extracellular signals. Amongst the three extensively investigated MAPKs in eukaryotes, the extracellular signal-regulated kinases (ERKs) are primarily associated with cellular proliferation and differentiation and are activated by mitogens or serum. In contrast, the c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNKs) and p38 isoforms are stimulated by environmental stressors or genotoxins and are known to trigger apoptosis in cells. Thus, JNKs and p38 isoforms are of important interest in

the study of cellular responses to stressors, while ERK/MAPK is generally studied for its role in cell proliferation and differentiation (Cargnello & Roux, 2012; Guo et al., 2020; Tournier et al., 2000).

JNK kinases exist in three different subfamilies: JNK1, JNK2, and JNK3. JNK1 is encoded by Mapk8 gene, while JNK2 is encoded by Mapk9 gene. Both JNK1 and JNK2 can be found in all types of tissues throughout the body. JNK3 is encoded by Mapk10 gene but unlike the others, it is mainly found in the heart, testes, and brain (Bubici & Papa, 2014). JNK kinases are often referred to as stress-activated protein kinases owing to the fact that they can be stimulated by many stressors such as infections, exposure to UV radiation, heat shock, growth factors and drugs, to mention but a few (Hammouda et al., 2020; Zeke et al., 2016).

When JNKs are stimulated by an upstream MAPK2K, like MKK4 and MKK7, they translocate to the nucleus where they phosphorylate c-Jun on its serine residues 63 and 73. This activates and stabilizes c-Jun to promote the transcription of JNK target genes, such as proapoptotic Bax or anti-apoptotic Bcl-2. Additionally, there is a downstream activation response on transcription factor activator protein-1 (AP1) (Fuchs et al., 1998; Mizukami et al., 1997; Zeke et al., 2016). JNK signaling is critical in the regulation of proteins involved in diverse cellular processes such as apoptosis, inflammation, differentiation, adhesion, migration, and proliferation. Dysregulation of JNK signaling therefore has been implicated in many human diseases such as diabetes, immune defects, and cancers (Zhang & Selim, 2012). This has been specifically reported to be evident in dermal fibrosis, psoriasis, melanoma, and squamous cell carcinoma.

Assefa *et al.* conducted a study to demonstrate the stimulation of JNK signaling in human keratinocytes following exposure to sublethal doses of UVB irradiation. This stimulation was

attributed to the c-Jun phosphorylation and subsequent upregulation gene AP-1 transcription. In addition, epidermal growth factor (EGF) has been shown to trigger JNK signaling. EGFR is implicated in the development of a majority of human malignancies due to its involvement in several cells signaling pathways. Therefore, regulation of EGFR expression is critical in blocking the initiation and progression of solid tumors including epithelial tumors (Salomon et al., 1995). EGFR is involved in regulating cell growth and division, and can become dysregulated in cancer cells, causing enhanced tumor growth, metastasis, and other carcinogenic processes (S. M. Huang & Harari, 1999). This makes EGFR an important target for therapy in cancer treatment. Upon treatment of cells with EGF, a ligand that binds to EGFR, the level of EGFR activation is increased. It has been proven that EGF activation triggers a pathway involving clathrin, a protein that aids in EGFR internalization into the cell. This process is rapid and causes subsequent degradation of EGFR upon activation (Henriksen et al., 2013; Roepstorff et al., 2009). A study investigated the effects of EGF and UVB on JNK stimulation in keratinocytes and reported that pretreatment of keratinocytes with EGF reduced their responsiveness to UVB-induced JNK activation. Conversely, priming the cells with UVB irradiation prior to treatment with either EGF or UVB caused hyperactivation of the JNK signaling pathway. This suggests that both UVB and EGF may utilize similar components of membranes to trigger signaling but differ with respect to downstream signaling mechanisms. Activation of JNK by both EGF and UVB was however diminished following pretreatment of the cells with NAC, suggesting a possible role of reactive oxygen species in JNK activation (Assefa et al., 1997).

As with AKT activation, JNK can be activated via PTPκ inactivation downstream of EGFR signaling following UVB irradiation, indicating that ROS-mediated PTP inactivation is essential for UVB-mediated JNK stimulation (El-Abaseri et al., 2006; Xu et al., 2006). Matrix

metalloproteinases (MMPs) lie downstream of MAPK and as such can be upregulated in response to stimuli that activate MAPKs, such as UVB (Fisher et al., 1998). SP600124, a JNKspecific inhibitor, significantly reduced the UVB-induced activation of MMP-1 in human dermal fibroblasts, suggesting that activation of MAPK pathways by UVB is strongest in JNK signaling compared to the others (Ham et al., 2013).

Recent investigations have proven that inhibition of JNK signaling by TC-PTP can make cells more vulnerable to apoptotic response triggered by UVB. Immortalized TC-PTP knockout keratinocytes showed an increased cell survival against UVB-induced apoptosis. This observation was accompanied by an increase in the phosphorylation levels of Flk-1 (VEGFR2) on its tyrosine 1173 residue, following UVB exposure. Treating the knockout cells with Flk-1 inhibitors, SU5416 and ZD6474, significantly reversed the initially observed effect and led to a substantial increase in apoptosis after UVB exposure. It was also reported that TC-PTP dephosphorylates Flk-1 through their interaction, mainly driven by exposure to UVB, as demonstrated by immunoprecipitation of TC-PTP-D182A, a substrate trapping mutant of TC-PTP. JNK activation increased significantly in TC-PTP knockout keratinocytes after following UVB-induced Flk-1 activation. Treatment with SP600125 (JNK inhibitor) significantly increased UVB-mediated apoptosis and hence these results altogether suggest that UVB-mediated apoptosis can be aided by TC-PTP via negative regulation of Flk-1/JNK-dependent cell survival mechanism (Baek et al., 2018).

Several recent investigations have utilized transgenic mouse models to determine the role of TC-PTP in skin photocarcinogenesis. Generally, the reports have supported the protective role of TC-PTP via the downregulation of key signaling pathways implicated in cell survival and proliferation such as STAT3, AKT and JNK.

2.4 Autophagy

Autophagy is a crucial cellular activity that contributes to the maintenance of cellular homeostasis through the degradation and recycling of intracellular components such damaged organelles, misfolded proteins, and macromolecules. It is a conserved process that occurs in every cell. This ensures the production of energy and the recycling of nutrients for cell survival. In order to protect cells from the potential deleterious effects of damaged cellular components and other harmful substances, autophagy ensures their sequestration to maintain cellular homeostasis and proliferation. Because it helps avoid the buildup of damaged organelles and proteins that could be hazardous to the cell, this mechanism is regarded as the quality control system of cells (Onorati et al., 2018). In reaction to stressful situations, such as starvation, hypoxia, and infection, as well as internal stressors such the accumulation of damaged proteins and organelles and increased energy demands, autophagy becomes more active. During starvation, lower eukaryotes use autophagy as a survival strategy. Autophagy has been linked to a variety of physiological and pathological processes in mammals, including anti-aging mechanisms, cellular differentiation and development, immunological responses, and the removal of intracellular pathogens (Levine & Kroemer, 2008; Mizushima, 2007; Shintani & Klionsky, 2004).

The degradation of cellular components may be unspecific or selective towards certain organelles. In contrast to the non-specific degradation of bulk components from the cytoplasm, selective autophagy maintains cellular homeostasis by degrading particular organelles such as ribosomes (ribophagy), peroxisomes (pexophagy), mitochondria (mitophagy), lysosomes (lysophagy), aggregated proteins (aggrephagy), nucleus (nucleophagy), endoplasmic reticulum (reticulophagy), droplets or condensates (fluidophagy), lipid droplets (lipophagy), ferritin

(ferritinophagy), bacteria (xenophagy) amongst several other targets. Degradation of the ubiquitinated materials is regulated by p62/SQSTM1, a cargo receptor (Vargas et al., 2023; Zaffagnini & Martens, 2016). It is worth mentioning that as opposed to previous reports on autophagic c function of autophagy is now more frequently observed in cancers. Normally, autophagy response to stressors occurs under strict regulation. However, in tumor microenvironments, autophagy is often dysregulated and is therefore implicated in carcinogenesis. Autophagy has been reported to have functional roles in the regulation of the immune system, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, and the development of cancer stem cells, among other important hallmarks of cancer (Pecoraro et al., 2020; Song et al., 2018).

2.4.1 The autophagy process

One key feature of autophagy is the use of double-membrane vesicles known as autophagosomes that are responsible for delivering the components to be degraded into the lysosomes where the recycling occurs. The process is complex and involves five stages namely initiation, nucleation, elongation autophagosome-lysosome fusion, and degradation (Levy et al., 2017; Mizushima, 2007).

Initiation involves the deactivation of mTORC1 and the activation of the Unc-51-like kinase 1 (ULK1) complex following a trigger by autophagy signals. Components of this complex include ULK1, ULK2, ATG101, ATG13, and RB1-inducible coiled-coil protein 1 (RB1CC1 or FIP200).

Activation of the ULK1 complex triggers the mobilizing of molecules into the phagophore assembly site and the stimulation of class III phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (class III

PI3K) complex which in turn, activates the generation of phosphatidylinositol-3-phosphate (PI3P) within the omegasome of an endoplasmic reticulum (Yu et al., 2018). PI3P then interacts with members of the WD-repeat protein interacting with phosphoinositides (WIPI) protein family. These series of events constitute the phagophore nucleation stage which happens to be the first committed step in the autophagy process (Axe et al., 2008; Su et al., 2013a; Yorimitsu & Klionsky, 2005).

The elongation of the phagophore, that is, the precursor of the autophagosome, is mediated by two ubiquitin-like protein systems. ATG7 and ATG10, which regulate the synthesis of the ATG12-ATG5-ATG16L1 complex, are part of the first system. The WIPI proteins, particularly WIPI2, which directly bind to ATG16L1, are responsible for securing this complex to the phagophore. Following stimulation by the first system, the second system uses ATG4B, ATG7, and ATG3 to cleave the LC3-like protein precursors and conjugate them to phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) in the membrane. γ -aminobutyric acid receptor-associated protein (GABARAP) then gets integrated in the developing autophagosome by coupling with PE. Before the autophagosome seals and cleaves, LC3 and GABARAP allow the autophagosome to bind to autophagic substrates targeted by receptors of selective autophagy (SARs), such as p62/SQSTM1 (Galluzzi & Green, 2019).

Microtubule proteins assist the transfer of autophagosomes to lysosomes. SNARE proteins, such as syntaxin 17 (STX17) and vesicle-associated membrane protein 8 (VAMP8), enable the fusion of autophagosomes and lysosomes. Following autolysosome formation, lysosomal hydrolases, which function optimally under acidic conditions, degrade the content of the autolysosome. The nutrients that are salvaged from the decomposition are released and recycled by the cell for use in future metabolic activities (Alvarez-Meythaler et al., 2020;

Kocaturk et al., 2019; Levy et al., 2017). In addition to autophagy related genes, several other genes control the mechanisms of autophagy. AKT and p21Cip1 are examples of oncogenes that downregulate autophagy while PTEN, p53, and TSC1/TSC2 are examples of tumor suppressor genes that promote it (Alvarez-Meythaler et al., 2020; Ávalos et al., 2014).

2.4.2 Regulation of autophagy

Autophagy-related effectors, or ATG proteins, are responsible for precisely controlling and carrying out each of these processes. The mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) is a protein that is linked to the growth and progression of cancer cells, as well as stress response. When mTORC1 is active, it blocks autophagy by transferring phosphoryl groups unto autophagy-related proteins (ATG). However, inhibition of mTOR is accompanied by activation of autophagy-activating kinase (ULK) complex (Torii et al., 2016). This leads to the localization of the complex to the phagophore and concomitant activation of class III PI3K (Thoresen et al., 2010). This, in turn, triggers Beclin-1 to recruit a myriad of proteins that play significant roles in the autophagosome maturation and elongation (Kang et al., 2011).

During elongation, microtubule-associated protein 1 light chain 3 (LC3) recruitment as well as phagophore expansion are facilitated by ATG5–ATG12/ATG16L complexes (Carlsson & Simonsen, 2015; Melia et al., 2020). Generally, LC3 is responsible for elongating the phagophore, and the conversion of the inactive pro-LC3 to its active cytosolic isoform, LC3 I, is mediated by ATG4B. A complex interplay between LC3 I, ATG3, ATG7 and phosphatidylethanolamine (PE) results in the conversion of LC3 I to LC3 II which localizes in both the inner and outer membranes of the autophagosome. The location of LC3II allows it to

associate with the cellular components that have been earmarked for degradation (Stolz et al., 2014). The mature autophagosomes then couple with lysosomes to form autolysosomes, which are responsible for the selective degradation of the encapsulated components.

2.4.3 Crosstalk between autophagy and apoptosis

Apoptosis, a form of programmed cell death, utilizes proteolytic enzymes called caspases to sequester damaged cells in a highly regulated manner. It represents the most extensively studied form of programmed cell death, characterized by distinct morphological features such as nuclear fragmentation and chromatin condensation in conjunction with cellular shrinkage. Apoptosis acts as a defensive mechanism when dangerous substances are present as well as a mechanism for controlling cell populations (Elmore, 2007). To this effect, preservation of cellular homeostasis requires a critical balance between apoptosis and cell proliferation.

Apoptosis is regulated by a myriad of signal transduction pathways that are implicated in various biological functions including cell turnover, embryonic development, and cellular responses to extrinsic stimuli such as exposure to chemicals or radiation. The interplay of numerous proteins and activators of signal transduction pathways facilitate an efficient apoptotic response. Both pro-apoptotic and anti-apoptotic proteins greatly affect a cell's ability to undergo apoptosis and as such the balance between those two classes of proteins is a critical determinant of the process (Singh et al., 2019). The failure of cells to undergo apoptosis can trigger carcinogenesis and progression of tumors hence cancer cells utilize evasion strategies to survive and keep dividing (Hornick et al., 2012; Radogna et al., 2015).

There are two separate mechanisms for inducing apoptosis, and each dependent on a different signal. The first mechanism, called the intrinsic pathway, includes the permeabilization of the mitochondrial outer membrane (MMP), which causes the release of cytochrome c from the mitochondria. The second mechanism is called the extrinsic pathway, which is triggered by the activation of death receptors.

The close connection between apoptosis and autophagy has been severally reported and this could be accounted for by their modulation by similar proteins and signaling pathways. Depending on the cellular context, autophagy may degrade negative regulators of Fas ligand to promote apoptosis or alter the cellular levels of the Bcl-2 family of proteins to suppress it. Stress signals can trigger both autophagy and apoptosis and it is believed that synergistic effects of both processes can enhance the progression of cancers. Notwithstanding, insights into the cooperation between the two processes have remained incomprehensible owing to the double-edged sword role of autophagy in either helping the survival of cells or stimulating apoptosis (Ciechomska, 2018; Wang et al., 2012).

A mitochondrial membrane protein, Bcl-2, is anti-apoptotic and its interaction with proapoptotic Bax suppresses apoptosis by inhibiting Mitochondrial Outer Membrane Permeabilization (MOMP). Consequently, the transition from autophagy to apoptosis is critically modulated by the association between Bcl-2 and Beclin-1 (Chen et al., 2019; Marquez & Xu, 2012).

BNIP3 and NIX can trigger autophagy by increasing the generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and competing with Beclin-1 for Bcl-2 binding, resulting in Beclin-1 release. Not only do autophagy-related proteins contribute to autophagy, but they also play a key role in apoptosis. For instance, non-conjugated ATG5 and ATG12 can trigger apoptosis during stress

conditions. ATG12 can directly bind to Bcl-2 family members such as Bcl-2 and MCL-1, which are anti-apoptotic proteins, without the involvement of ATG5 or ATG3 (Rubinstein et al., 2011). The autophagic activity of ATG5 is downregulated when it gets cleaved by calpains.

The mitochondrial translocation of the N-terminal fragment of ATG5 triggers cytochrome c release, which in turn stimulates effector caspases leading to apoptosis. Additionally, the regulation of autophagy is influenced by a number of critical apoptotic proteins. For instance, the anti-apoptotic protein, FADD-like IL-1β-converting enzymeinhibitory protein (c-FLIP), downregulates extrinsic apoptosis. FLIP also blocks autophagy by inhibiting LC3 lipidation through competitive binding to ATG3. However, binding between FLIP and ATG3 decreases drastically once autophagy is initiated (Lee et al., 2009).

Caspases, which function as both the initiators and the executors of cell death during apoptosis, are critical in the process of regulating autophagy by cleaving key autophagy proteins. Caspase-2, -8, -9, and -10 are responsible for the initiation of apoptosis whereas caspase-3, -6, and -7 serve as its executors (Van Opdenbosch & Lamkanfi, 2019). Beclin-1, ATG3, ATG5, and ATG7 are examples of autophagy-related proteins whose autophagic function can be obstructed by caspase-mediated cleavage (Tsapras & Nezis, 2017). ATG4D, in particular, has the ability to cause cytotoxicity following caspase cleavage but also participates in the autophagy pathway, demonstrating a complicated interplay and fine regulation that is reliant on the concentrations of apoptotic and anti-apoptotic proteins in cells (Alvarez-Meythaler et al., 2020).

2.4.4 The dual role of autophagy in cancer

General autophagy is a process in which cytoplasmic components are sequestered into autophagosomes and degraded upon fusion with lysosomes. Research has shown that dysfunctions in autophagy are correlated with genomic damage, metabolic stress, and the development of tumors (Udristioiu & Nica-Badea, 2019). With inconsistent findings about its contribution to carcinogenesis, numerous studies have examined the intricate interactions between autophagy and cancer (Lorin et al., 2008). Several studies have linked autophagy to the regulation of oncogenes and tumor suppressor genes while others have linked it to the promotion and inhibition of cancer (Yun & Lee, 2018). Autophagy defects are often discovered in a variety of cancers where the buildup of damaged cellular components contributes to tumor growth.

Despite the fact that autophagy is typically thought to have tumor-suppressive effects, it can also support tumor cell survival under specific circumstances and hence it is known to have both pro- and anti-tumorigenic effects (Bhutia et al., 2013). When apoptosis is compromised for instance, stress-activated autophagy can support tumor cell survival (Mathew et al., 2007). On the one hand, it prevents cancer cells from surviving and causes their death, thereby suppressing carcinogenesis. On the other side, autophagy also promotes the growth of tumors and cancer cell proliferation, thereby contributing to the development of cancer. Thus, in the context of cancer biology, autophagy plays a significant role in both the promotion and suppression of tumors and influences the development and proliferation of cancer cells (Yun & Lee, 2018).

Studies in mice have shown that homozygous deletion of Beclin-1 causes embryonic lethality whereas heterozygous deletion of same in mammary tissue causes aberrant proliferation of cells leading to preneoplastic alterations (Qu et al., 2003). Also, mice with heterozygous

deletion of Beclin-1 shows increased incidence of certain cancers such as lymphomas and carcinomas as they age. Intriguingly, it has been shown that autophagy activation can increase cell survival in immortalized mouse mammary epithelial cells with defective apoptosis, as wildtype Beclin-1 cells have a longer lifespan and are more resistant to nutrient and oxygen deprivation-induced cell death. These results show a potential dual role for autophagy in increasing cell survival in apoptosis-defective cells, despite the evidence buttressing its role in cancer prevention (Su et al., 2013).

2.4.5 Targeting autophagy as a treatment approach in cancer

Numerous investigations have demonstrated that autophagy has a dual role in cancer, acting as both a suppressor and a promoter. Consequently, manipulating autophagy might be a promising strategy for enhancing cancer treatment outcomes. In fact, earlier investigations led to the discovery of drugs and natural compounds that can target each stage of autophagy, including autophagosome initiation and degradation (Deng et al., 2019; Morel et al., 2017).

Additionally, autophagy also plays an essential role in anticancer therapy, and studies have demonstrated that it can contribute to drug resistance development (Belounis et al., 2016; Eritja et al., 2017; Li et al., 2017). Chemotherapy-induced autophagy can reduce cell death, promote cancer cell survival, and contribute to drug resistance in cancer. The efficiency of some cancer therapies, such as photososan-II-mediated photodynamic therapy in colorectal cancer cells, can be increased in the presence of an autophagy inhibitor like chloroquine, which increases apoptosis (Xiong et al., 2017). Chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine (HCQ) are lysosomal inhibitors that modify lysosomal pH leading to the prevention of autophagic degradation, and thus accumulation of autophagosomes to directly block autophagy (Manic et al., 2014; Mauthe et al., 2018; Varisli et al., 2020). In bladder cancer and pancreatic adenocarcinoma, previous research has demonstrated that either chloroquine or HCQ can effectively reduce cancer cell proliferation by blocking autophagy (Lin et al., 2017). A newly developed lysosometropic derivative of CQ known as Lys05 inhibits autophagy even at low dosages by increasing the pH of lysosomes (Lorin et al., 2008; Rangwala et al., 2014). Studies conducted both in vitro and in vivo have revealed that Lys05 inhibits cancer development with greater efficacy than HCQ, notably in melanoma and colon cancer xenograft models. The synergistic effect of Lys05 and a BRAF inhibitor has also shown promising outcomes in preventing cancer in vivo (Barnard et al., 2014; Rosenfeld et al., 2014). Another autophagy inhibitor, spautin-1, also promotes the breakdown of class III PI3K kinase complexes by the proteasome (Liu et al., 2011). These autophagy-specific inhibitors provide a cutting-edge method of treating cancer, especially in cases when the disease has proven resistant to conventional therapy. These inhibitors can prevent cancer cells from dividing, surviving, and resisting chemotherapy by blocking autophagy.

To completely comprehend the efficiency and possible negative effects of these inhibitors, as well as their ideal use in conjunction with other medicines, extensive research is required. The development of autophagy-specific inhibitors, however, presents a promising new front in the battle against cancer.

CHAPTER III

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Cell culture and exposure to UVB

Immortalized human keratinocytes (HaCaT) were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM) containing 10% FBS and 1% penicillin/streptomycin at a temperature of 37°C and carbon dioxide concentration of 5% until desired confluency. The cells were washed with prewarmed DPBS and then irradiated with a dose of UVB. The DPBS was aspirated immediately post-UVB irradiation and then culture medium was added to cells. Cells were again maintained under the same incubator conditions until harvest.

3.2 Generation of knockout cell line

HaCaT TC-PTP/KO cell line was generated using the CRISPR system transfection protocol. HaCaT cells were seeded at a density of 2 x 10⁵ cells per well in a 6-well tissue culture plate and incubated for 24 hours. The cells were maintained in a growth medium containing 10% FBS until approximately 80% percent confluency. Prepared plasmid DNA solution was added dropwise into a dilute UltraCruzTM transfection reagent (Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc.) using a pipette. The mixture was vortexed and incubated for 5 minutes at room temperature after which it was added dropwise into each well with gentle swirling of the plate. The cells were then incubated for 96 hours post transfection. Successfully transfected cells were selected using puromycin and the colonies were transfected with a Cre vector.

3.3 Cell Proliferation and Cytotoxicity Assay

Cell Counting Kit-8 assay (Dojindo Molecular Technologies, Inc.) utilizes WST-8, [2-(2methoxy-4-nitrophenyl)-3-(4-nitrophenyl)-5-(2,4-disulfophenyl)-2*H*-tetrazolium, monosodium salt], which is a highly water-soluble tetrazolium salt that yields a water-soluble formazan dye when reduced by an electron mediator. HaCaT cells were plated at a density 2 x 10^4 cells/well in a 48-well plate and incubated for 24 hours. The cells were washed, coated with about 25μ L of DPBS and then irradiated with 10mJ/cm² of UVB. After post-UVB incubation for defined hours, the WST-8 dye was added to each well and again incubated per manufacturer's instructions. Absorbance was measured at 450nm.

3.4 Preparation of Whole Cell Lysate and western blot analysis

Total protein lysate from keratinocytes cells lines were prepared using Radio Immunoprecipitation Assay (RIPA) buffer (Thermo Fisher Scientific) containing 1% Triton X-100, phosphatase inhibitor cocktails I and II; and protease inhibitor cocktail from Sigma-Aldrich. The extracted proteins were quantified using the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) assay and equivalent concentrations of the total proteins were resolved using SDS-PAGE. The separated proteins were transferred to a PVDF membrane (GE healthcare) and blocked in 5% BSA or skim milk for either overnight at 4°C or 1 hour at room temperature. The membrane was incubated with a primary antibody overnight at 4°C, washed in TBST and then incubated with a horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody at room temperature. To detect immunoreactive proteins, membrane was briefly immersed into a chemiluminescent reagent (Pierce) after which blot images were taken using ChemiDocTMMP (Bio-rad, Hercules, CA). The following antibodies were utilized: anti-LC3A/B (#4108); anti-LC3B (#3868); anti-phospho-STAT3 (#9145); anti-STAT3 (#9132); anti-SQSM1/p62 (#5114); and anti-TC-PTP (#58935) from Cell Signaling Technology; anti-CD44 (#NBP1-47386) from Novus Biologicals and anti-β-Actin (sc-47778) from Santa Cruz Biotechnology.

3.5 Analysis of UVB-induced apoptosis in HaCaT cells

Annexin V-FITC detection exploits the translocation of the membrane phosphatidylserine (PS) from the inner face of the plasma membrane to the cell surface upon trigger of apoptosis. HaCaT cells were plated at a density 1 x 10^5 cells/mL in a 100 mm plate and incubated for 24 hours. The cells were washed, coated with about 25μ L of DPBS and then irradiated with 10mJ/cm² of UVB. After post-UVB incubation for defined hours, media with floating cells were collected into a 50 mL falcon tube. The attached cells were trypsinized, collected into the same tube and centrifuged for 5 mins at 1000 RPM. The supernatant was aspirated, and the pellet resuspended with 2 mL PBS. The recommended number of cells were collected by centrifugation after counting and resuspended in 1X binding buffer. Annexin V-FITC and propidium iodide were both added. The cells were incubated at room temperature for 5 minutes in the dark. Annexin V-FITC binding was analyzed by flow cytometry.

3.6 Statistical Methods

All data obtained during this study were presented as mean \pm standard error of mean (SEM). The results are the mean \pm standard deviation from three independent experiments. **P* < 0.005 by *T* test for equality of means. All graphs were generated using GraphPad Prism (5.03, GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA).

CHAPTER IV

RESULTS

4.1 Establishment and characterization of HaCaT TC-PTP knockout cells

To ascertain the role of TC-PTP in UVB-induced autophagy, we established HaCaT TC-PTP knockout cells for in-vitro loss-of-function experiments. HaCaT wildtype cells were cultured and co-transfected with TC-PTP CRISPR/Cas9 KO plasmid and HDR plasmid as extensively described in the methodology (Figure 2.1).

All three selected clones of both HaCaT TC-PTP/Cas9 mock and KO were cultured using the same media and incubator conditions over several passages following transfection. There were no observable variations with respect to morphological characteristics amongst the three clones (HaCaT C1 – C3) for each cell line (Figure 2.2).



Figure 2.1: HaCaT reverse transfection with Lipofectamine 3000. HaCaT wildtype cells were co-transfected with TC-PTP CRISPR/Cas9 KO plasmid and HDR plasmid. The puromycin-selected transfected cells were transfected with Cre Vector. Three HaCaT clones were selected for each cell line post-transfection.



Figure 2.2: HaCaT clones exhibit similar morphological characteristics. Representative images of HaCaT TC-PTP/KO (knockout) and TC-PTP/Mock (engineered control) cells cultured after ten passages. All three clones selected for both cell lines were cultured under the same conditions.

To evaluate the anchorage-independent potential of HaCaT cell clones, the expression of epidermal stem cell marker, CD44, was probed with specific antibody. Keratinocytes positive for CD44 expression are known to exhibit enhanced colony formation. A431 epidermoid carcinoma cell line was used as a positive control. As shown in Figure 2.3 there was no CD44 expression for all HaCaT clones indicating their inability to form colonies. However, A431 cells showed a significant expression of CD44. With reference to previous studies demonstrating the positive correlation between the knockdown of TC-PTP and phosphorylated STAT3 expression in both



Figure 2.3.1: HaCaT clones exhibit similar growth characteristics. Western blot analysis of HaCaT TC-PTP knockout and mock cell lysates with antibodies specific for TC-PTP, CD44, pSTAT3, STAT3, and β -actin. A431 epidermoid carcinoma cell line was used as a positive control.

mice and immortalized primary keratinocytes (Baek et al., 2018), we probed the expression levels of STAT3 in all the clones of HaCaT cell lines. Consistent with previous reports, phosphorylated STAT3 expression was significantly higher in all clones of the HaCaT Cas9/TC-PTP knockout cell line as compared to all clones of the engineered control and A431 cells.

Cell viability assay using all clones of both HaCaT Mock and KO cells also showed that akin to reports in previous experiments, HaCaT Cas9/TC-PTP KO clones grew significantly faster than their mock counterparts. Relative cell numbers as a percentage of the control for all clones were comparable for each cell line (Figure 2.4). Owing to the observable similarities in morphology and growth amongst the clones, we chose clone 1 (C1) of each the cell lines and cultured them under the same conditions for all other experiments.



Figure 2.3.2: HaCaT clones exhibit similar growth characteristics. Cell viability of the selected clones (C1-C3) of HaCaT TC-PTP/KO and TC-PTP/Mock cells. The clones of both cell lines were cultured under the same media and incubator conditions. Proliferation of the cells was measured using Dojindo's WST-8 assay according to the manufacturer's general protocol for cell number determination. The results are the mean \pm standard deviation from three independent experiments. **P* < 0.005 by *T* test for equality of means. (A) HaCaT clones C1. (B) HaCaT clones C2. (C) HaCaT clones C3. (D) HaCaT clones C1-C3.

4.2 TC-PTP regulates autophagy

The recruitment of LC3 to the autophagosomal membranes facilitates the formation of autophagosomes and autolysosomes. Hence, we constructed LC3-expressing TC-PTP-deficient and overexpressing immortalized mouse keratinocyte cell line (3PC) to investigate the effect of TC-PTP deficiency on LC3 fluorescent puncta formation in autophagosomes as a marker of autophagy. After transfection, the cells were treated with UVB (10 mJ/cm²) and then incubated for 24 hours.





Figure 3.1: LC3 puncta formation in mRFP-EGFP-LC3B-transfected keratinocytes.

Representative images of mRFP-LC3 puncta from LC3-expressing TC-PTP-deficient and overexpressing immortalized mouse keratinocyte cell line (3PC). Parental, engineered control, TC-PTP-deficient and overexpressing 3PC cells were transfected with an mRFP-EGFP tandem fluorescent-tagged LC3 (mRFP1-EGFP-LC3) vector and then exposed to 10 mJ/cm² UVB irradiation. Cells were incubated for 24 h following UV irradiation.

The fluorescent imaging analysis of LC3 puncta formation showed that TC-PTP significantly decreased the formation of LC3 puncta in the 3PC TC-PTP/Mock cells as compared to the TC-PTP/knockout counterparts. Also, TC-PTP-overexpressing 3PC cells showed even more decreased LC3 puncta formation in comparison to the TC-PTP/Mock cells. This indicates that TC-PTP deficiency correlates with increased levels of LC3 puncta formation, thus increased levels of autophagy and vice versa (Figure 3.1). This was consistent with the growth response of HaCaT cells in response to the same different doses of UVB. HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock cells showed a significant decrease in cell viability as compared to HaCaT TC-PTP/KO cells (Figure 3.2).



Figure 3.2: Dose-dependent assessment of the viability of cells. Cell viability was measured using Dojindo's WST-8 assay 16 h after HaCaT were exposed to 5, 10, 20 mJ/cm² of UVB irradiation. The results are the mean \pm standard deviation from three independent experiments. *P < 0.005 by T test for equality of means.

Furthermore, representative images of both cell lines following irradiation with 10 mJ/cm² of UVB showed that HaCaT TC-PTP/ KO cells are relatively more resistant to UVB-induced cell death in comparison to the engineered controls (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3: HaCaT keratinocyte response post-UVB irradiation. Representative images of UVtreated and untreated HaCaT/TC-PTP Mock and KO cells.

We evaluated the expression of specific markers of autophagy using western blot analysis. We found that HaCaT TC-PTP/KO cells demonstrated an increased expression of LC3A/B in a time-dependent manner in comparison to HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock cells. This increase in LC3A/B was accompanied by a decrease in the expression of p62 (Figure 3.4).



Figure 3.4: LC3 increases in a time-dependent manner in TC-PTP deficient cells. Western blot analysis of HaCaT/Cas9 TC-PTP knockout and mock cell lysates with antibodies specific for LC3A/B, p62, TC-PTP, and β -actin. The cells were harvested at the stipulated time post-UV irradiation. HaCaT/Cas9 TC-PTP Mock and KO cells were exposed to 10mJ/cm2 of UV for this time-dependent experiment.



Figure 4.1: Inhibition of early-phase autophagy decreases proliferation of TC-PTP/KO cells. (A) Representative images of untreated, UV-treated, and UV-3MA-treated HaCaT/TC-PTP Mock and KO cells. (B) Cell viability was measured using Dojindo's WST-8 assay 16 h following UV irradiation. The results are the mean \pm standard deviation from three independent experiments. *P < 0.05 by T test for equality of means. (C) Western blot analysis of HaCaT/Cas9 TC-PTP knockout and mock cell lysates with antibodies specific for LC3B, TC-PTP, and β -actin. HaCaT/Cas9 TC-PTP Mock and KO cells were pre-treated with 3MA for 1-hour prior exposure to UV irradiation.



Figure 5.1: Inhibition of late-phase autophagy decreases proliferation of TC-PTP/KO. (A) Representative images of untreated, UV-treated, and UV-CQ-treated HaCaT/TC-PTP Mock and KO cells. (B) Cell viability was measured using Dojindo's WST-8 assay 16 h following UV irradiation. The results are the mean \pm standard deviation from three independent experiments. *P < 0.05 by T test for equality of means. (C) Western blot analysis of HaCaT/Cas9 TC-PTP knockout and mock cell lysates with antibodies specific for LC3B, TC-PTP, and β -actin. HaCaT/ TC-PTP Mock and KO cells were pre-treated with CQ for 1h before UV irradiation.
To evaluate the effect of autophagy inhibitors on TC-PTP-induced autophagy, we treated HaCaT cell lines with specific autophagy inhibitor 3-methyladenine (3-MA) to block early-phase autophagy and chloroquine (CQ) to block late-phase autophagy. Representative images of HaCaT cells showed that HaCaT TC-PTP/KO cells were relatively resistant to cell death in comparison to HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock cells following exposure to UVB irradiation. However, when HaCaT TC-PTP/KO cells were treated with 3-MA prior to irradiation with the same dose of UVB irradiation, we observed increased levels of cell death which was comparable to that observed in their HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock counterparts (Figure 4a). This observation correlated with the proliferation of cells as HaCaT TC-PTP/KO cells showed a significant decrease in cell viability when they were pretreated with 3-MA prior to UVB irradiation as compared to treatment with UVB alone. However, relative cell viability for HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock cells was comparable between those pretreated with 3-MA and those treated with UVB alone (Figure 4b). These observations were consistent with results from the western blot analysis for the expression of autophagy marker LC3. Inhibition with 3-MA significantly reduced LC3 expression in HaCaT TC-PTP/KO cells in comparison to HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock cells after 16 hours post-UVB irradiation (Figure 4c). Similar findings were recorded for treatments with CQ. However, western blot analysis showed a significantly increased expression of LC3 in HaCaT TC-PTP/KO cells as compared to HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock cells (Figure 5a-c).

Previous studies using both mice and IPKs demonstrated the impact of TC-PTP deficiency in UVB-induced apoptosis. Similarly, apoptotic cells detected by flow cytometry analysis were significantly higher in HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock cells compared to that in HaCaT TC-PTP/KO cells following irradiation with UVB (Figure 6.1A, B).

54



Figure 6.1: TC-PTP deficiency correlates with decreased UVB-induced apoptosis. (A, C) Representative outputs of flow cytometry analysis. (B, D) Quantification of apoptotic cells in control and UVB-treated HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock and KO cells 16 h post UVB irradiation. (d) Quantification of apoptotic cells in control, UVB-treated, and UVB-CQ-treated HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock and KO cells 16 h post UVB irradiation. Apoptotic cells were stained with Annexin V-FITC and estimated using flow cytometry analysis. The results are the mean \pm standard deviation from three independent experiments. *P < 0.05 by T test for equality of means.









Figure 6.2: TC-PTP deficiency correlates with decreased UVB-induced apoptosis. Western blot analysis of HaCaT/Cas9 TC-PTP knockout and mock cell lysates with antibodies specific for TC-PTP, β -actin, autophagy marker LC3A/B, and mitochondrial apoptotic markers Bcl-2 and Bax. The cells were harvested 16 h post UVB irradiation. (f) Western blot analysis of HaCaT/Cas9 TC-PTP knockout and mock cell lysates with antibodies specific for TC-PTP, β actin, autophagy marker LC3A/B, and mitochondrial apoptotic markers PARP and caspase-3. The cells were harvested 16 h post UVB irradiation.

However, when both cells were pretreated with CQ prior to UVB irradiation, apoptotic cells increased significantly in HaCaT TC-PTP/KO cells in comparison to HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock cells (Figure 6.1C, D).

Western blot analysis with autophagy marker LC3A/B and apoptotic markers showed an increased expression of anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 in HaCaT TC-PTP/KO cells in comparison to HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock cells. However, the expression of pro-apoptotic Bax was significantly decreased in HaCaT TC-PTP/KO cells in comparison with HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock cells. These observations were paralleled with an increased expression of LC3A/B (Figure 6.2A). Furthermore, immunoblot investigation with other apoptotic markers PARP (poly[ADP-ribose] polymerase) and caspase-3 showed a substantial increase in both cleaved PARP and cleaved caspase-3 in HaCaT TC-PTP/KO cells compared to HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock cells (Figure 6.2B).

4.3 TC-PTP deficiency correlates with increased Akt and Src signaling

Cell survival via autophagy is regulated by a myriad of signal transduction pathways. Based on previous reports from several studies, we sought to investigate the implications of Akt and Src signaling in UVB-induced autophagy. Cells were cultured and protein lysates from both HaCaT TC-PTP/Mock and knockout cells were subjected to western blot analysis. It was observed that the expression of phosphorylated AKT was higher in the knockout cells than in the mock cells treated under the same conditions of UVB and incubation times. The increased expression of AKT was paralleled by an increase in the expression of the autophagic marker LC3A/B (Figure 7A). Similarly, the expression of phosphorylated Src was higher in the knockout cells compared to engineered controls (Figure 7B). These findings suggest that cell survival via autophagic pathway could be driven by the activation of Src and/or Akt signaling.



Figure 7.1: TC-PTP deficiency correlates with increased Akt and Src signaling. (A) Western blot analysis of phospho-Akt (Ser473), LC3A/B, TC-PTP, and β-actin in HaCaT/Cas9 TC-PTP knockout and mock cell lysates. The cells were harvested at the stipulated time post UVB irradiation. (B) Western blot analysis of phospho-Src (Tyr416), LC3A/B, TC-PTP, and β-actin in HaCaT/Cas9 TC-PTP knockout and mock cell lysates. The cells were harvested at the stipulated time post UVB irradiation.

CHAPTER V

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

Protein tyrosine phosphatases have been severally reported to be implicated in numerous cancers due to the roles they play in cell differentiation and growth. According to Lee et al., (2015), mice keratinocytes lacking TC-PTP rather survive and proliferate rapidly as opposed their removal after incurring damages due to UVB irradiation. PTPs are known to downregulate the rate and duration of phosphotyrosine signaling (Lemmon & Schlessinger, 2010; Stoker, 2005; Tonks & Neel, 1996). TC-PTP is a type of PTP that has been reported to have either a protumorigenic or anti-tumorigenic role in specific cancers. While some cancer cells express low levels of TC-PTP, others express mutated forms of it when compared to wildtype forms of the protein in normal skin cells (Kim et al., 2020).

The autophagic mechanism is critical in deciding the fate of cells during the initiation of tumors by cross-connecting with apoptotic signaling pathway (Chen et al., 2019; Marquez & Xu, 2012). Autophagy can induce cell death by either cooperating with apoptotic pathway or promoting it. Autophagy can also inhibit cell death as a cell survival mechanism. It depends on the cellular context and environmental stimuli. The failure of cells to undergo apoptosis can trigger carcinogenesis and progression of tumors hence cancer cells utilize evasion strategies to survive and keep dividing (Hornick et al., 2012; Radogna et al., 2015).

This study has shown that TC-PTP significantly downregulates the autophagic mechanism in human keratinocytes following UVB-irradiation to allow for the sequestration of damaged keratinocytes. This suggests that expression and activation of epidermal-specific TC-PTP upon exposure of the skin to UVB irradiation inhibits autophagy while promoting apoptotic signaling to restore cellular homeostasis. However, deficiency of TC-PTP makes precancerous cells resistant to apoptosis via the upregulation of autophagic pathway.

Cell survival via autophagy is regulated by a myriad of signaling pathways. The Ras/Raf/MEK/ERK and Ras/PI3K/PTEN/Akt/mTOR pathways have been implicated in the regulation of cell growth, apoptosis, aging, and cell response to chemotherapy. These pathways share similar downstream targets that have the potency to promote cell survival even though their overall effect on cell growth and proliferation differ. The AKT signaling can either promote autophagy via the activation of the ERK1/2 pathway (Vrechi et al., 2021; Yeh et al., 2016) or inhibit autophagy via the activation of Akt/TSC/mTOR pathway (Qin et al., 2010). Recent studies in our lab showed that the Src/AMPK pathway can promote autophagy following cisplatin treatment and increase osteosarcoma chemoresistance (Kim et al., 2017).

Our current findings suggest that the survival of cells and their malignant transformation via autophagy could be mediated by either Src or Akt signaling or both, and that these pathways could be downregulated by TC-PTP. However, inhibitor studies are needed to make conclusive statements on the implications of these pathways in autophagy. In all, this study provides insights into the mechanism of survival of precancerous cells and reiterates the tumor-suppressive role of TC-PTP in skin carcinogenesis.

In summary, TC-PTP deficiency in HaCaT cells increases their proliferation in comparison with engineered controls. This is accompanied by a significant increase in the expression of autophagy marker, LC3-II, following UVB irradiation. The use of autophagy inhibitors, 3-MA and CQ, decreases proliferation of HaCaT TC-PTP knockdown cells after exposure to UVB. In

61

addition, TC-PTP deficiency in HaCaT cells increases the expression of Bcl-2 and decreases the expression of Bax, cleaved PARP and cleaved caspase-3 following UVB treatment. The findings from this study suggest that TC-PTP regulates autophagy and can be a potential therapeutic target for the prevention of skin cancer.

REFERENCES

- Akira, S. (1999). Functional roles of STAT family proteins: Lessons from knockout mice. *Stem Cells*, *17*(3), 138–146. https://doi.org/10.1002/STEM.170138
- Alessi, D. R., Deak, M., Casamayor, A., Caudwell, F. B., Morrice, N., Norman, D. G., Gaffney, P., Reese, C. B., MacDougall, C. N., Harbison, D., Ashworth, A., & Bownes, M. (1997). 3-Phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase-1 (PDK1): structural and functional homology with the Drosophila DSTPK61 kinase. *Current Biology*, 7(10), 776–789. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(06)00336-8
- Alonso, A., Sasin, J., Bottini, N., Friedberg, I., Friedberg, I., Osterman, A., Godzik, A., Hunter, T., Dixon, J., & Mustelin, T. (2004). Protein tyrosine phosphatases in the human genome. *Cell*, 117(6), 699–711. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2004.05.018
- Altomare, D. A., & Khaled, A. R. (2012). Homeostasis and the Importance for a Balance Between AKT/mTOR Activity and Intracellular Signaling. *Current Medicinal Chemistry*, 19, 3748–3762.
- Altomare, D. A., & Testa, J. R. (2005). Perturbations of the AKT signaling pathway in human cancer. *Oncogene*, 7455–7464. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1209085
- Alvarez-Meythaler, J. G., Garcia-Mayea, Y., Mir, C., Kondoh, H., & LLeonart, M. E. (2020). Autophagy Takes Center Stage as a Possible Cancer Hallmark. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/FONC.2020.586069/FULL
- Armstrong, B. K., & Kricker, A. (2001). The epidemiology of UV induced skin cancer. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology B: Biology*, 63(1–3), 8–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1011-1344(01)00198-1
- Assefa, Z., Garmyn, M., Bouillon, R., Merlevede, W., Vandenheede, J. R., & Agostinis, P. (1997). Differential stimulation of ERK and JNK activities by ultraviolet B irradiation and epidermal growth factor in human keratinocytes. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, *108*(6), 886–891. https://doi.org/10.1111/1523-1747.EP12292595
- Ávalos, Y., Canales, J., Bravo-Sagua, R., Criollo, A., Lavandero, S., & Quest, A. F. G. (2014). Tumor Suppression and Promotion by Autophagy. *BioMed Research International*, 2014.

- Axe, E. L., Walker, S. A., Manifava, M., Chandra, P., Roderick, H. L., Habermann, A., Griffiths, G., & Ktistakis, N. T. (2008). Autophagosome formation from membrane compartments enriched in phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate and dynamically connected to the endoplasmic reticulum. *Journal of Cell Biology*, *182*(4), 685–701.
- Baek, M., Kim, M., Lim, J. S., Morales, L. D., Hernandez, J., Mummidi, S., Williams-Blangero, S., Jang, I.-S., Tsin, A. T., & Kim, D. J. (2018). Epidermal-specific deletion of TC-PTP promotes UVB-induced epidermal cell survival through the regulation of Flk-1/JNK signaling. *Cell Death & Disease*. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-018-0781-9
- Bard-Chapeau, E. A., Li, S., Ding, J., Zhang, S. S., Zhu, H. H., Princen, F., Fang, D. D., Han, T., Bailly-Maitre, B., Poli, V., Varki, N. M., Wang, H., & Feng, G. S. (2011). Ptpn11/Shp2 Acts as a Tumor Suppressor in Hepatocellular Carcinogenesis. *Cancer Cell*, 19(5), 629– 639. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CCR.2011.03.023
- Barnard, R. A., Wittenburg, L. A., Amaravadi, R. K., Gustafson, D. L., Thorburn, A., & Thamm, D. H. (2014). Phase I clinical trial and pharmacodynamic evaluation of combination hydroxychloroquine and doxorubicin treatment in pet dogs treated for spontaneously occurring lymphoma. *Autophagy*, 10(8), 1415. https://doi.org/10.4161/AUTO.29165
- Begg, C., Hummer, A. J., Mujumdar, U., Armstrong, B. K., Kricker, A., Marrett, L. D., Millikan, R. C., Gruber, S. B., Anton Culver, H., Zanetti, R., Gallagher, R. P., Dwyer, T., Rebbeck, T. R., Busam, K., From, L., Berwick, M., Roy, P., Canchola, R., Clas, B., ... Setlow, R. (2006). A design for cancer case–control studies using only incident cases: experience with the GEM study of melanoma. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *35*(3), 756–764. https://doi.org/10.1093/IJE/DYL044
- Belounis, A., Nyalendo, C., Le Gall, R., Imbriglio, T. V., Mahma, M., Teira, P., Beaunoyer, M., Cournoyer, S., Haddad, E., Vassal, G., & Sartelet, H. (2016). Autophagy is associated with chemoresistance in neuroblastoma. *BMC Cancer*, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S12885-016-2906-9
- Bhatia, S., Tykodi, S. S., & Thompson, J. A. (2009). Treatment of metastatic melanoma: an overview. Oncology (Williston Park, N.Y.), 23(6), 488–496. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/pmid/19544689/?tool=EBI
- Bhutia, S. K., Mukhopadhyay, S., Sinha, N., Das, D. N., Kumar Panda, P., Patra, S. K., Maiti, T. K., Mandal, M., Dent, P., Wang, X.-Y., Das, S. K., & Fisher ¶, P. B. (2013). Autophagy: Cancer's Friend or Foe? Advances in Cancer Research, 118, 61–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-407173-5.00003-0
- Bialy, L., Waldmann, H., Waldmann, H., & Bialy, L. (2005). Inhibitors of protein tyrosine phosphatases: Next-generation drugs? *Wiley Online Library*, 44(25), 25. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.200461517

- Boniol, M., Autier, P., Boyle, P., & Gandini, S. (2012). Cutaneous melanoma attributable to sunbed use: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ (Online)*, 345(7877). https://doi.org/10.1136/BMJ.E4757
- Bourdeau, A., Dubé, N., & Tremblay, M. L. (2005). Cytoplasmic protein tyrosine phosphatases, regulation, and function: the roles of PTP1B and TC-PTP. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 2(17), 203–209. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CEB.2005.02.001
- Bowden, G. T. (2004). Prevention of non-melanoma skin cancer by targeting ultraviolet-B-light signalling. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 4(1), 23–25.
- Bowman, T., Garcia, R., Turkson, J., & Jove, R. (2000). STATs in oncogenesis. *Oncogene*, *19*, 2474–2488. www.nature.com/onc
- Brash, D. E., Rudolph, J. A., Simon, J. A., Lin, A., Mckenna, G. J., Baden, H. P., Halperin, A. J., & Pontén, J. (1991). A role for sunlight in skin cancer: UV-induced p53 mutations in squamous cell carcinoma. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 88(22), 10124–10128. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.22.10124
- Brash, D. E., Ziegler, A., Jonason, A. S., Simon, J. A., Kunala, S., & Leffell, D. J. (1996). Sunlight and sunburn in human skin cancer: p53, apoptosis, and tumor promotion. *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology. Symposium Proceedings*, 1(2), 136–142. https://europepmc.org/article/med/9627707
- Bromberg, J. (2002). Stat proteins and oncogenesis. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *109*(9), 1139–1142. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI15617
- Bromberg, J. F., Wrzeszczynska, M. H., Devgan, G., Zhao, Y., Pestell, R. G., Albanese, C., & Darnell, J. E. (1999). Stat3 as an oncogene. *Cell*, *98*(3), 295–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81959-5
- Bubici, C., & Papa, S. (2014). JNK signalling in cancer: in need of new, smarter therapeutic targets. *British Journal of Pharmacology*, 171(1), 24–37. https://doi.org/10.1111/BPH.12432
- Cargnello, M., & Roux, P. P. (2012). Activation and Function of the MAPKs and Their Substrates, the MAPK-Activated Protein Kinases. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*, 76(2), 496–496. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00013-12
- Carlsson, S. R., & Simonsen, A. (2015). Membrane dynamics in autophagosome biogenesis. Journal of Cell Science, 128(2), 193–205. https://doi.org/10.1242/JCS.141036/259811/AM/MEMBRANE-DYNAMICS-IN-AUTOPHAGOSOME-BIOGENESIS
- Caselli, A., Marzocchini, R., Camici, G., Manao, G., Moneti, G., Pieraccini, G., & Ramponi, G. (1998). The inactivation mechanism of low molecular weight phosphotyrosine- protein phosphatase by H2O2. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 273(49), 32554–32560. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.49.32554

- Chan, K. S., Sano, S., Kataoka, K., Abel, E., Carbajal, S., Beltran, L., Clifford, J., Peavey, M., Shen, J., & DiGiovanni, J. (2009). Forced expression of a constitutively active form of Stat3 in mouse epidermis enhances malignant progression of skin tumors induced by two-stage carcinogenesis. *Oncogene*, 27(8), 1087–1094. https://doi.org/10.1038/SJ.ONC.1210726
- Chan, K., Sano, S., Kiguchi, K., Anders, J., & Komazawa, N. (2004). Disruption of Stat3 reveals a critical role in both the initiation and the promotion stages of epithelial carcinogenesis. *Researchgate.Net*. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI21032
- Chan, R. J., & Feng, G.-S. (2007). *PTPN11 is the first identified proto-oncogene that encodes a tyrosine phosphatase*. https://doi.org/10.1182/blood
- Chan, T. O., Rittenhouse, S. E., & Tsichlis, P. N. (1999). Article in Annual Review of Biochemistry ·. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.68.1.965
- Chen, Y., Zhang, W., Guo, X., Ren, J., & Gao, A. (2019). The crosstalk between autophagy and apoptosis was mediated by phosphorylation of Bcl-2 and beclin1 in benzene-induced hematotoxicity. *Cell Death & Disease*, *10*(10), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-019-2004-4
- Chu, N., Viennet, T., Bae, H., Salguero, A., Boeszoermenyi, A., Arthanari, H., & Cole, P. A. (2020). The structural determinants of PH domain-mediated regulation of Akt revealed by segmental labeling. *Elife*, *9*, e59151–e59151. https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.59151
- Ciechomska, I. A. (2018). The role of autophagy in cancer characterization of crosstalk between apoptosis and autophagy; autophagy as a new therapeutic strategy in glioblastoma. *Postepy Biochemii*, 64(2), 119–128. https://doi.org/10.18388/PB.2018_121
- Claerhout, S., Decraene, D., van Laethem, A., van Kelst, S., Agostinis, P., & Garmyn, M. (2006). AKT delays the early-activated apoptotic pathway in UVB-irradiated keratinocytes via BAD translocation. *The Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, *127*(2), 429–438. https://doi.org/10.1038/SJ.JID.5700533
- COFFER, P., BURGERING, B., PEPPELENBOSCH, M., BOS, J., & KRUIJER, W. (1995). UV ACTIVATION OF RECEPTOR TYROSINE KINASE-ACTIVITY. ONCOGENE, 11(3), 561–569. https://research.rug.nl/en/publications/uv-activation-of-receptor-tyrosine-kinaseactivity
- Cool, D. E., Tonks, N. K., Charbonneau, H., Walsh, K. A., Fischer, E. H., & Krebs, E. G. (1989). cDNA isolated from a human T-cell library encodes a member of the protein-tyrosinephosphatase family. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States* of America, 86(14), 5257–5261. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.86.14.5257
- Crowell, J. A., Steele, V. E., & Fay, J. R. (2007). Targeting the AKT protein kinase for cancer chemoprevention. *Mol Cancer Ther*, 6(8), 2139–2187. https://doi.org/10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-07-0120

- Cullen, P. J., & Sprague, G. F. †. (2012). *The Regulation of Filamentous Growth in Yeast*. https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.111.127456
- Dae, J. K., Chan, K. S., Sano, S., & DiGiovanni, J. (2007). Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (Stat3) in epithelial carcinogenesis. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*, 46(8), 725– 731. https://doi.org/10.1002/MC.20342
- Dae, J. K., Kataoka, K., Sano, S., Connolly, K., Kiguchi, K., & DiGiovanni, J. (2009). Targeted disruption of Bcl-xL in mouse keratinocytes inhibits both UVB- and chemically induced skin carcinogenesis. *Molecular Carcinogenesis*, 48(10), 873–885. https://doi.org/10.1002/MC.20527
- Darnell, J. E. (1997). STATs and gene regulation. *Science*, 277(5332), 1630–1635. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.277.5332.1630
- Deng, S., Shanmugam, M. K., Kumar, A. P., Yap, C. T., Sethi, G., & Bishayee, A. (2019). Targeting autophagy using natural compounds for cancer prevention and therapy. *Cancer*, 125(8), 1228–1246. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNCR.31978
- Denu, J. M., & Tanner, K. G. (2002). Redox regulation of protein tyrosine phosphatases by hydrogen peroxide: Detecting sulfenic acid intermediates and examining reversible inactivation. *Methods in Enzymology*, 348, 297–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0076-6879(02)48648-X
- Dodd, G. T., Andrews, Z. B., Simonds, S. E., Spanswick, D., Cowley, M. A., & Correspondence, T. T. (2017). A Hypothalamic Phosphatase Switch Coordinates Energy Expenditure with Feeding. *Cell Metabolism*, 26, 375–393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.07.013
- Dodd, G. T., Decherf, S., Loh, K., Simonds, S. E., Wiede, F., Balland, E., Merry, T. L., Münzberg, H., Zhang, Z. Y., Kahn, B. B., Neel, B. G., Bence, K. K., Andrews, Z. B., Cowley, M. A., & Tiganis, T. (2015). Leptin and insulin act on POMC neurons to promote the browning of white fat. *Cell*, *160*(1–2), 88–104. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2014.12.022
- El-Abaseri, T. B., Putta, S., & Hansen, L. A. (2006a). Ultraviolet irradiation induces keratinocyte proliferation and epidermal hyperplasia through the activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Carcinogenesis*, 27(2), 225–231. https://doi.org/10.1093/CARCIN/BGI220
- El-Abaseri, T. B., Putta, S., & Hansen, L. A. (2006b). Ultraviolet irradiation induces keratinocyte proliferation and epidermal hyperplasia through the activation of the epidermal growth factor receptor. *Carcinogenesis*, 27(2), 225–231. https://doi.org/10.1093/CARCIN/BGI220
- Elmore, S. (2007). Apoptosis: A Review of Programmed Cell Death. *Toxicologic Pathology*, 35(4), 495. https://doi.org/10.1080/01926230701320337
- Engelman, J. A., Luo, J., & Cantley, L. C. (2006). The evolution of phosphatidylinositol 3kinases as regulators of growth and metabolism. *Nature Reviews. Genetics*, 7(8), 606–619. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRG1879

- Eritja, N., Chen, B. J., Rodríguez-Barrueco, R., Santacana, M., Gatius, S., Vidal, A., Martí, M. D., Ponce, J., Bergadà, L., Yeramian, A., Encinas, M., Ribera, J., Reventós, J., Boyd, J., Villanueva, A., Matias-Guiu, X., Dolcet, X., & Llobet-Navàs, D. (2017). Autophagy orchestrates adaptive responses to targeted therapy in endometrial cancer. *Autophagy*, *13*(3), 608. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2016.1271512
- Fisher, G. J., Talwar, H. S., Lin, J., Lin, P., McPhillips, F., Wang, Z. Q., Li, X., Wan, Y., Kang, S., & Voorhees, J. J. (1998). Retinoic acid inhibits induction of c-Jun protein by ultraviolet radiation that occurs subsequent to activation of mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways in human skin in vivo. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, 101(6), 1432–1440. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI2153
- Fresno Vara, J. Á., Casado, E., de Castro, J., Cejas, P., Belda-Iniesta, C., & González-Barón, M. (2004). PI3K/Akt signalling pathway and cancer. *Cancer Treatment Reviews*, 2(30), 193– 204. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CTRV.2003.07.007
- FUCHS, S., ADLER, V., ... M. P.-Proc. Natl. Acad. S., & 1998, undefined. (1998). MEKK1/JNK signaling stabilizes and activates p53. *Researchgate.Net*, 95(18), 10541– 10546. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.95.18.10541
- Galluzzi, L., & Green, D. R. (2019). Autophagy-Independent Functions of the Autophagy Machinery. *Cell*, 177(7), 1682–1699. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2019.05.026
- Gao, Y., Moten, A., & Lin, H. K. (2014). Akt: A new activation mechanism. *Cell Research*, 24(7), 785–786. https://doi.org/10.1038/CR.2014.57
- Glickman, M. S., & Sawyers, C. L. (2012). Converting cancer therapies into cures: Lessons from infectious diseases. *Cell*, *148*(6), 1089–1098. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2012.02.015
- Green, A. C., Williams, G. M., Logan, V., & Strutton, G. M. (2011). Reduced melanoma after regular sunscreen use: randomized trial follow-up. *Journal of Clinical Oncology: Official Journal of the American Society of Clinical Oncology*, 29(3), 257–263. https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2010.28.7078
- Grimes, C. A., & Jope, R. S. (2001). The multifaceted roles of glycogen synthase kinase 3b in cellular signaling. *Progress in Neurobiology*, 65, 391–426. www.elsevier.com/locate/pneurobio
- Grohmann, M., Wiede, F., Dodd, G. T., Ohara, O., Mclean, C. A., & Correspondence, T. T. (2018). Obesity Drives STAT-1-Dependent NASH and STAT-3-Dependent HCC In Brief. *Cell*, 175, 1289–1306. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2018.09.053
- Gulati, P., Markova, B., Göttlicher, M., Böhmer, F. D., & Herrlich, P. A. (2004). UVA inactivates protein tyrosine phosphatases by calpain-mediated degradation. *EMBO Reports*, 5(8), 812–817. https://doi.org/10.1038/SJ.EMBOR.7400190
- GUO, Y., PAN, W., ... S. L.-E., & 2020, undefined. (2020). ERK/MAPK signalling pathway and tumorigenesis. *Pdfs.Semanticscholar.Org*. https://doi.org/10.3892/etm.2020.8454

- Gupta, A. K., Bharadwaj, M., & Mehrotra, R. (2016). Skin Cancer Concerns in People of Color: Risk Factors and Prevention. Asian Pacific Journal of Cancer Prevention: APJCP, 17(12), 5257. https://doi.org/10.22034/APJCP.2016.17.12.5257
- Guy, G. P. Jr., Thomas, C. C., Thompson, T., Watson, M., Massetti, G. M., & Richardson, L. C. (2015). Vital Signs: Melanoma Incidence and Mortality Trends and Projections — United States, 1982–2030. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 64(21), 591–594.
- Ham, S. A., Kang, E. S., Lee, H., Hwang, J. S., Yoo, T., Paek, K. S., Park, C., Kim, J. H., Lim, D. S., & Seo, H. G. (2013). PPARδ inhibits UVB-induced secretion of MMP-1 through MKP-7-mediated suppression of JNK signaling. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, *133*(11), 2593–2600. https://doi.org/10.1038/JID.2013.202
- Hammouda, M. B., Ford, A. E., Liu, Y., & Zhang, J. Y. (2020). *The JNK Signaling Pathway in Inflammatory Skin Disorders and Cancer*. https://doi.org/10.3/JQUERY-UI.JS
- Han, W., photobiology, Y. H.-P. and, & 2009, undefined. (2009). Requirement for metalloproteinase-dependent ERK and AKT activation in UVB-induced G1-S cell cycle progression of human keratinocytes. *Wiley Online Library*, 85(4), 997–1003. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-1097.2008.00531.x
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell*, *100*(1), 57–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81683-9
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. *Cell*, *144*(5), 646–674. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2011.02.013/ATTACHMENT/3F528E16-8B3C-4D8D-8DE5-43E0C98D8475/MMC1.PDF
- Hart, J. R., & Vogt, P. K. (2011). Phosphorylation of AKT: a Mutational Analysis. *Oncotarget*, 2(6), 467–476. www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget/www.impactjournals.com/oncotarget
- Hendriks, W., Brugman, C., Richter, K. H., van Hooijdonk, C., Schepens, J., Schalkwijk, J., & Wieringa, B. (1996). Protein-Tyrosine Phosphatases Expressed in Mouse Epidermal Keratinocytes. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, *106*(5), 972–976. https://doi.org/10.1111/1523-1747.EP12338472
- Hendriks, W. J. A. J., Elson, A., Harroch, S., & Stoker, A. W. (2008). Protein tyrosine phosphatases: Functional inferences from mouse models and human diseases. *FEBS Journal*, 275(5), 816–830. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1742-4658.2008.06249.X
- Henriksen, L., Grandal, M. v, Knudsen, S., van Deurs, B., & Grøvdal, L. M. (2013). Internalization Mechanisms of the Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor after. *PLoS ONE*, 8(3), 58148. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0058148
- Hornick, J. R., Vangveravong, S., Spitzer, D., Abate, C., Berardi, F., Goedegebuure, P., MacH,R. H., & Hawkins, W. G. (2012). Lysosomal membrane permeabilization is an early event in Sigma-2 receptor ligand mediated cell death in pancreatic cancer. *Journal of*

Experimental & Clinical Cancer Research: CR, 31(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-9966-31-41

- Howlader, N., Noone, A., Krapcho, M., Miller, D., Brest, A., Yu, M., Ruhl, J., Tatalovich, Z., Mariotto, A., Lewis, D., Chen, H., Feuer, E., & Cronin, K. (n.d.). *Cancer Statistics Review*, 1975-2016 - SEER Statistics. National Cancer Institute. Retrieved February 26, 2023, from https://seer.cancer.gov/archive/csr/1975_2016/#revision
- Huang, C., Li, J., Ding, M., Leonard, S. S., Wang, L., Castranova, V., Vallyathan, V., & Shi, X. (2001). UV Induces phosphorylation of protein kinase B (Akt) at Ser-473 and Thr-308 in mouse epidermal Cl 41 cells through hydrogen peroxide. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276(43), 40234–40240. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M103684200
- Huang, S. M., & Harari, P. M. (1999). Epidermal growth factor receptor inhibition in cancer therapy: Biology, rationale and preliminary clinical results. *Investigational New Drugs*, 17(3), 259–269. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1006384521198
- Ichihashi, M., Ueda, M., Budiyanto, A., Bito, T., Oka, M., Fukunaga, M., Tsuru, K., & Horikawa, T. (2003). UV-induced skin damage. *Toxicology*, 189(1–2), 21–39. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0300-483X(03)00150-1
- Jacinto, E., Facchinetti, V., Liu, D., Soto, N., Wei, S., Jung, S. Y., Huang, Q., Qin, J., & Su, B. (2006). SIN1/MIP1 maintains rictor-mTOR complex integrity and regulates Akt phosphorylation and substrate specificity. *Cell*, 127(1), 125–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2006.08.033
- Jiang, Y.-P., Wang,', 'H, D'eustachio, P., Musacchio, J. M., Schlessinger, J., & Sap', J. (1993). Cloning and characterization of R-PTP-kappa, a new member of the receptor protein tyrosine phosphatase family with a proteolytically cleaved cellular adhesion molecule-like extracellular region. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 13(5), 2942–2951. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.13.5.2942-2951.1993
- Julien, S. G., Dubé, N., Hardy, S., & Tremblay, M. L. (2011). *Inside the human cancer tyrosine phosphatome*. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2980
- Kamatkar, S., Radha, V., Nambirajan, S., Reddy, R. S., & Swarup, G. (1996). Two splice variants of a tyrosine phosphatase differ in substrate specificity, DNA binding, and subcellular location. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(43), 26755–26761. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.271.43.26755
- Kang, R., Zeh, H. J., Lotze, M. T., & Tang, D. (2011). The Beclin 1 network regulates autophagy and apoptosis. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 18(4), 571–580. https://doi.org/10.1038/CDD.2010.191
- Karlsson, E., Veenstra, C., Emin, S., Dutta, C., Pérez-Tenorio, G., Nordenskjöld, B., Fornander, T., & Stål, O. (2015). Loss of protein tyrosine phosphatase, non-receptor type 2 is associated with activation of AKT and tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer. *Breast Cancer Research and Treatment*, 153(1), 31–40. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10549-015-3516-Y

- Kataoka, K., Kim, D. J., Carbajal, S., Clifford, J., & Digiovanni, J. (2008). Stage-specific disruption of Stat3 demonstrates a direct requirement during both the initiation and promotion stages of mouse skin tumorigenesis. *Carcinogenesis Advance Access*, 17. https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=5e36bf5994477dfdf9801 aa6c4f96db563fe498f
- Kim, D. J., Angel, J. M., Sano, S., & Digiovanni, J. (2009). Constitutive activation and targeted disruption of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (Stat3) in mouse epidermis reveal its critical role in UVB-induced skin carcinogenesis. *Oncogene*, 28, 950–960. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2008.453
- Kim, D. J., Kataoka, K., Rao, D., Kiguchi, K., Cotsarelis, G., & Digiovanni, J. (2009). Targeted Disruption of Stat3 Reveals a Major Role for Follicular Stem Cells in Skin Tumor Initiation. *Cancer Res*, 69, 7587–7594. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1180
- Kim, D. J., Tremblay, M. L., & Digiovanni, J. (2010). Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases, TC-PTP, SHP1, and SHP2, Cooperate in Rapid Dephosphorylation of Stat3 in Keratinocytes Following UVB Irradiation. *PLoS ONE*, 5(4), 10290. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0010290
- Kim, M., Jung, J. Y., Choi, S., Lee, H., Morales, L. D., Koh, J. T., Kim, S. H., Choi, Y. D., Choi, C., Slaga, T. J., Kim, W. J., & Kim, D. J. (2017). GFRA1 promotes cisplatin-induced chemoresistance in osteosarcoma by inducing autophagy. *Autophagy*, *13*(1), 149–168. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2016.1239676
- Kim, M., Morales, L. D., Baek, M., Slaga, T. J., DiGiovanni, J., & Kim, D. J. (2017). UVBinduced nuclear translocation of TC-PTP by AKT/14-3-3σ axis inhibits keratinocyte survival and proliferation. *Oncotarget*, 8(53), 90674–90692. https://doi.org/10.18632/ONCOTARGET.21794
- Kim, M., Morales, L. D., Cheol, •, Lee, J., Olivarez, S. A., Woo, •, Kim, J., Hernandez, J., Mummidi, S., Jenkinson, • Christopher, Tsin, A. T., Jang, I.-S., Thomas, •, Slaga, J., Dae, •, & Kim, J. (2020). Overexpression of TC-PTP in murine epidermis attenuates skin tumor formation. *Oncogene*, *39*, 4241–4256. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41388-020-1282-8
- Kim, M., Morales, L. D., Jang, I. S., Cho, Y. Y., & Kim, D. J. (2018). Protein Tyrosine Phosphatases as Potential Regulators of STAT3 Signaling. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2018, Vol. 19, Page 2708, 19*(9), 2708. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS19092708
- Kisseleva, T., Bhattacharya, S., Braunstein, J., & Schindler, C. W. (2002). Signaling through the JAK/STAT pathway, recent advances and future challenges. *Gene*, 285(1–2), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1119(02)00398-0
- Kleppe, M., Lahortiga, I., el Chaar, T., de Keersmaecker, K., Mentens, N., Graux, C., van Roosbroeck, K., Ferrando, A. A., Langerak, A. W., Meijerink, J. P. P., Sigaux, F., Haferlach, T., Wlodarska, I., Vandenberghe, P., Soulier, J., & Cools, J. (2010). Deletion of

the protein tyrosine phosphatase gene PTPN2 in T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukemia. *Nature Genetics*, *42*(6), 530–535. https://doi.org/10.1038/NG.587

- Kocaturk, N. M., Akkoc, Y., Kig, C., Bayraktar, O., Gozuacik, D., & Kutlu, O. (2019). Autophagy as a molecular target for cancer treatment. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 134, 116–137. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EJPS.2019.04.011
- Korff, S., Woerner, S. M., Yuan, Y. P., Bork, P., von Knebel Doeberitz, M., & Gebert, J. (2008). Frameshift mutations in coding repeats of protein tyrosine phosphatase genes in colorectal tumors with microsatellite instability. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-8-329
- Kraemer, K. H. (1997). Sunlight and skin cancer: Another link revealed. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 94(1), 11–14. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.94.1.11
- Kraemer, K. H., Lee, M. M., Andrews, A. D., & Lambert, W. C. (1994). The role of sunlight and DNA repair in melanoma and nonmelanoma skin cancer. The xeroderma pigmentosum paradigm. *Archives of Dermatology*, *130*(8), 1018–1021. https://doi.org/10.1001/ARCHDERM.1994.01690080084012
- Lee, H., Kim, M., Baek, M., Morales, L. D., Jang, I.-S., Slaga, T. J., Digiovanni, J., Dae, &, & Kim, J. (2017). Targeted disruption of TC-PTP in the proliferative compartment augments STAT3 and AKT signaling and skin tumor development. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep45077
- Lee, H., Morales, L. D., Slaga, T. J., & Kim, D. J. (2015). Activation of T-cell protein-tyrosine phosphatase suppresses keratinocyte survival and proliferation following UVB irradiation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 290(1), 13–24. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M114.611681
- Lee, J.-S., Li, Q., Lee, J.-Y., Lee, S.-H., Jeong, J. H., Lee, H.-R., Chang, H., Zhou, F.-C., Gao, S.-J., Liang, C., & Jung, J. U. (2009). FLIP-mediated autophagy regulation in cell death control. *Nature Cell Biology*, 11(11), 1355–1362. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb1980
- Lemmon, M. A., & Schlessinger, J. (2010). Cell Signaling by Receptor Tyrosine Kinases. *Cell*, 141(7), 1117–1134. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2010.06.011
- Leroux, A. E., Schulze, J. O., & Biondi, R. M. (2018). AGC kinases, mechanisms of regulation and innovative drug development. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, 48, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SEMCANCER.2017.05.011
- Levine, B., & Kroemer, G. (2008). Autophagy in the pathogenesis of disease. *Cell*, *132*(1), 27–42. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2007.12.018
- Levy, D., CELL, J. D. J.-N. R. M., & 2002, undefined. (2002). STATS: TRANSCRIPTIONAL CONTROL AND BIOLOGICAL IMPACT. *Researchgate.Net*. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm909
- Levy, D., Investigation, C. L.-T. J. of C., & 2002, undefined. (2002). What does Stat3 do? *Am Soc Clin Investig*, *109*, 1143. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI200215650

- Levy, J., Towers, C., & Thorburn, A. (2017). Targeting autophagy in cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, *17*(9), 528–542. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2017.53
- Li, Y. Y., Feun, L. G., Thongkum, A., Tu, C. H., Chen, S. M., Wangpaichitr, M., Wu, C., Kuo, M. T., & Savaraj, N. (2017). Autophagic Mechanism in Anti-Cancer Immunity: Its Pros and Cons for Cancer Therapy. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 18(6). https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS18061297
- Lin, Y. C., Lin, J. F., Wen, S. I., Yang, S. C., Tsai, T. F., Chen, H. E., Chou, K. Y., & Hwang, T. I. S. (2017). Chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine inhibit bladder cancer cell growth by targeting basal autophagy and enhancing apoptosis. *The Kaohsiung Journal of Medical Sciences*, 33(5), 215–223. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.KJMS.2017.01.004
- Liu, J., Xia, H., Kim, M., Xu, L., Li, Y., Zhang, L., Cai, Y., Norberg, H. V., Zhang, T., Furuya, T., Jin, M., Zhu, Z., Wang, H., Yu, J., Li, Y., Hao, Y., Choi, A., Ke, H., Ma, D., & Yuan, J. (2011). Beclin1 controls the levels of p53 by regulating the deubiquitination activity of USP10 and USP13. *Cell*, *147*(1), 223–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2011.08.037
- Loeb, L. A., & Harris, C. C. (2008). Advances in chemical carcinogenesis: a historical review and prospective. *Cancer Research*, 68(17), 6863–6872. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-2852
- Loh, K., Fukushima, A., Zhang, X., Galic, S., Briggs, D., Enriori, P. J., Simonds, S., Wiede, F., Reichenbach, A., Hauser, C., Sims, N. A., Bence, K. K., Zhang, S., Zhang, Z. Y., Kahn, B. B., Neel, B. G., Andrews, Z. B., Cowley, M. A., & Tiganis, T. (2011). Elevated hypothalamic TCPTP in obesity contributes to cellular leptin resistance. *Cell Metabolism*, *14*(5), 684–699. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CMET.2011.09.011
- Lomas, A., Leonardi-Bee, J., & Bath-Hextall, F. (2012). A systematic review of worldwide incidence of nonmelanoma skin cancer. *British Journal of Dermatology*, 166(5), 1069– 1080. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2133.2012.10830.X
- Lorin, S., Codogno, P., & Djavaheri-Mergny, M. (2008). [Autophagy: a new concept in cancer research]. *Bulletin Du Cancer*, 95(1), 43–50. https://doi.org/10.1684/BDC.2008.0565
- Madson, J. G., Lynch, D. T., Svoboda, J., Ophardt, R., Yanagida, J., Putta, S. K., Bowles, A., Trempus, C. S., Tennant, R. W., & Hansen, L. A. (2009). Erbb2 suppresses DNA damageinduced checkpoint activation and UV-induced mouse skin tumorigenesis. *The American Journal of Pathology*, 174(6), 2357–2366. https://doi.org/10.2353/AJPATH.2009.080638
- Manguso, R. T., Pope, H. W., Zimmer, M. D., Brown, F. D., Yates, K. B., Miller, B. C., Collins, N. B., Bi, K., la Fleur, M. W., Juneja, V. R., Weiss, S. A., Lo, J., Fisher, D. E., Miao, D., van Allen, E., Root, D. E., Sharpe, A. H., Doench, J. G., & Haining, W. N. (2017). In vivo CRISPR screening identifies Ptpn2 as a cancer immunotherapy target. *Nature*, 547(7664), 413–418. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE23270

- Manic, G., Obrist, F., Kroemer, G., Vitale, I., & Galluzzi, L. (2014). Chloroquine and hydroxychloroquine for cancer therapy. *Molecular & Cellular Oncology*, *1*(1). https://doi.org/10.4161/MCO.29911
- Manning, B. D., & Cantley, L. C. (2007). AKT/PKB Signaling: Navigating Downstream. *Cell*, *129*(7), 1261–1274. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2007.06.009
- Marquez, R., & Xu, L. (2012). Bcl-2: Beclin 1 complex: multiple, mechanisms regulating autophagy/apoptosis toggle switch. *American Journal of Cancer Research*, 2(2), 214. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Liang-Xu-16/publication/223966669_Bcl-2Beclin_1_complex_Multiple_mechanisms_regulating_autophagyapoptosis_toggle_switch/ links/0c96051b205d40e9c5000000/Bcl-2Beclin-1-complex-Multiple-mechanismsregulating-autophagy-apoptosis-toggle-switch.pdf
- Mathew, R., Karantza-Wadsworth, V., & White, E. (2007). Role of autophagy in cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 7(12), 961–967. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2254
- Mauthe, M., Orhon, I., Rocchi, C., Zhou, X., Luhr, M., Hijlkema, K. J., Coppes, R. P., Engedal, N., Mari, M., & Reggiori, F. (2018). Chloroquine inhibits autophagic flux by decreasing autophagosome-lysosome fusion. *Autophagy*, 14(8), 1435. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2018.1474314
- McArdle, L., Rafferty, M., Mælandsmo, G. M., Bergin, O., Farr, C. J., Dervan, P. A., O'loughlin, S., Herlyn, M., & Easty, D. J. (2001). Protein tyrosine phosphatase genes downregulated in melanoma. *Journal of Investigative Dermatology*, *117*(5), 1255–1260. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.0022-202X.2001.01534.X
- McArdle, L., Rafferty, M., Satyamoorthy, K., Maelandsmo, G., Dervan, P., Herlyn, M., & Easty, D. (2005). Microarray analysis of phosphatase gene expression in human melanoma. *Academic.Oup.Com*, 152(5), 925–930. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2005.06454.x
- Melia, T., Lystad, A., Biol, A. S.-J. C., & 2020, undefined. (2020). Autophagosome biogenesis: From membrane growth to closure. *The Journal of Cell Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.202002085
- Melnikova, V. O., & Ananthaswamy, H. N. (2005). Cellular and molecular events leading to the development of skin cancer. *Elsevier*, *571*(1–2), 91–106.
- Mizukami, Y., Yoshioka, K., Morimoto, S., & Yoshida, K. (1997). A Novel Mechanism of JNK1 Activation NUCLEAR TRANSLOCATION AND ACTIVATION OF JNK1 DURING ISCHEMIA AND REPERFUSION*. http://www.jbc.org
- Mizushima, N. (2007). Autophagy: process and function. *Genes & Development*, 21(22), 2861–2873. https://doi.org/10.1101/GAD.1599207
- Morel, E., Mehrpour, M., Botti, J., Dupont, N., Hamai, A., Nascimbeni, A. C., & Codogno, P. (2017). Autophagy: A Druggable Process. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, 57, 375–398. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-pharmtox-010716-104936

- Mosinger, B., Tillmann, U., Westphal, H., Tremblay, M. L., Charbonneau, N. K., Walsh, H., Fischer, K. A., & Krebs, E. H. &. (1992). Cloning and characterization of a mouse cDNA encoding a cytoplasmic protein-tyrosine-phosphatase. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 89(2), 499–503. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.89.2.499
- Onorati, A. V., Dyczynski, M., Ojha, R., & Amaravadi, R. K. (2018). Targeting autophagy in cancer. *Cancer*, *124*(16), 3307–3318. https://doi.org/10.1002/CNCR.31335
- Östman, A., Hellberg, C., & Böhmer, F. D. (2006). Protein-tyrosine phosphatases and cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 6(4), 307–320. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRC1837
- Pecoraro, A., Pagano, M., Russo, G., & Russo, A. (2020). Role of Autophagy in Cancer Cell Response to Nucleolar and Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(19), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS21197334
- Qin, L., Wang, Z., Tao, L., & Wang, Y. (2010). ER stress negatively regulates AKT/TSC/mTOR pathway to enhance autophagy. *Autophagy*, 239(2), 239–247. https://doi.org/10.4161/auto.6.2.11062
- Qu, X., Yu, J., Bhagat, G., Furuya, N., Hibshoosh, H., Troxel, A., & Jeffrey Rosen. (2003). Promotion of tumorigenesis by heterozygous disruption of the beclin 1 autophagy gene. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *112*(12), 1809–1820. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI200320039
- Radogna, F., Dicato, M., & Diederich, M. (2015). Cancer-type-specific crosstalk between autophagy, necroptosis and apoptosis as a pharmacological target. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 94(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BCP.2014.12.018
- Rangwala, R., Leone, R., Chang, Y. C., Fecher, L. A., Schuchter, L. M., Kramer, A., Tan, K. S., Heitjan, D. F., Rodgers, G., Gallagher, M., Piao, S., Troxel, A. B., Evans, T. L., DeMichele, A. M., Nathanson, K. L., O'Dwyer, P. J., Kaiser, J., Pontiggia, L., Davis, L. E., & Amaravadi, R. K. (2014). Phase I trial of hydroxychloroquine with dose-intense temozolomide in patients with advanced solid tumors and melanoma. *Autophagy*, *10*(8), 1369–1379. https://doi.org/10.4161/AUTO.29118
- Raone, B., Patrizi, A., Gurioli, C., ... A. G.-P., & 2018, undefined. (2018). Cutaneous carcinogenic risk evaluation in 375 patients treated with narrowband-UVB phototherapy: a 15-year experience from our Institute. *Wiley Online Library*, 34(5), 302–306. https://doi.org/10.1111/phpp.12382
- Revathidevi, S., & Munirajan, A. K. (2019). Akt in cancer: Mediator and more. *Seminars in Cancer Biology*, 59, 80–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SEMCANCER.2019.06.002
- Rho, O., Joon Kim, D., Kiguchi, K., & DiGiovanni, J. (2011). Growth factor signaling pathways as targets for prevention of epithelial carcinogenesis. *Wiley Online Library*, *50*(4), 264–279. https://doi.org/10.1002/mc.20665

- Roepstorff, K., Grandal, M. V., Henriksen, L., Knudsen, S. L. J., Lerdrup, M., Grøvdal, L., Willumsen, B. M., & van Deurs, B. (2009). Differential Effects of EGFR Ligands on Endocytic Sorting of the Receptor. *Traffic*, *10*(8), 1115–1127. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1600-0854.2009.00943.X
- Rosenfeld, M. R., Ye, X., Supko, J. G., Desideri, S., Grossman, S. A., Brem, S., Mikkelson, T., Wang, D., Chang, Y. C., Hu, J., McAfee, Q., Fisher, J., Troxel, A. B., Piao, S., Heitjan, D. F., Tan, K.-S., Pontiggia, L., O, P. J., Davis, L. E., ... amaravadi, R. K. (2014). A phase I/II trial of hydroxychloroquine in conjunction with radiation therapy and concurrent and adjuvant temozolomide in patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *Taylor & Francis*, *10*(8), 1359–1368. https://doi.org/10.4161/auto.28984
- Rubinstein, A. D., Eisenstein, M., Ber, Y., Bialik, S., & Kimchi, A. (2011). The autophagy protein Atg12 associates with antiapoptotic Bcl-2 family members to promote mitochondrial apoptosis. *Molecular Cell*, 44(5), 698–709. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2011.10.014
- Sachsenmaier, C., Radler-Pohl, A., Zinck, R., Nordheim, A., Herrlich, P., & Rahmsdorf, H. J. (1994). Involvement of growth factor receptors in the mammalian UVC response. *Cell*, 78(6), 963–972. https://doi.org/10.1016/0092-8674(94)90272-0
- Salomon, D. S., Brandt, R., Ciardiello, F., & Normanno, N. (1995). Epidermal growth factorrelated peptides and their receptors in human malignancies. *Critical Reviews in Oncology* and Hematology, 19(3), 183–232. https://doi.org/10.1016/1040-8428(94)00144-I
- Sano, S., Chan, K. S., & DiGiovanni, J. (2008). Impact of Stat3 activation upon skin biology: A dichotomy of its role between homeostasis and diseases. *Journal of Dermatological Science*, 50(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JDERMSCI.2007.05.016
- Sano, S., Chan, K. S., Kira, M., Kataoka, K., Takagi, S., Tarutani, M., Itami, S., Kiguchi, K., Yokoi, M., Sugasawa, K., Mori, T., Hanaoka, F., Takeda, J., & Digiovanni, J. (2005). Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 3 Is a Key Regulator of Keratinocyte Survival and Proliferation following UV Irradiation. *Cancer Research*, 5720–5729. http://aacrjournals.org/cancerres/article-pdf/65/13/5720/2532505/5720-5729.pdf
- Sarasin, A. (1999). The molecular pathways of ultraviolet-induced carcinogenesis. *Mutation Research*, 428(1–2), 5–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1383-5742(99)00025-3
- Sarbassov, D. D., Ali, M., & Sabatini, D. M. (2005). Growing roles for the mTOR pathway. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology*, 17, 596–603. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ceb.2005.09.009
- Shaw, R. J., Cantley, L. C., Shaw, R. J., & Cantley, L. C. (2006). Ras, PI(3)K and mTOR signalling controls tumour cell growth. *Nature*, 441(7092), 424–430. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE04869
- Shields, B. J., Wiede, F., Gurzov, E. N., Wee, K., Hauser, C., Zhu, H.-J., Molloy, T. J., O'Toole, S. A., Daly, R. J., Sutherland, R. L., Mitchell, C. A., McLean, C. A., & Tiganis, T. (2013). TCPTP Regulates SFK and STAT3 Signaling and Is Lost in Triple-Negative Breast

Cancers. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, *33*(3), 557–570. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.01016-12

- Shintani, T., & Klionsky, D. J. (2004). Autophagy in health and disease: a double-edged sword. *Science*, *306*(5698), 990–995. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1099993
- Singh, R., Letai, A., & Sarosiek, K. (2019). Regulation of apoptosis in health and disease: the balancing act of BCL-2 family proteins. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 20(3), 175–193. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-018-0089-8
- Song, X., Yongyong, Y., Chao Wan, X., Feng, H., Huang, T., Yang, Y., Wan, X., Alvarez, A. A., Sastry, N., Hu, B., Cheng, S.-Y., & Bo Hu, to. (2018). Autophagy and Hallmarks of Cancer. *Critical ReviewsTM*, 23(6), 247–267. https://doi.org/10.1615/CritRevOncog.2018027913
- Stephens, L., Anderson, K., Stokoe, D., Erdjument-Bromage, H., Painter, G. F., Holmes, A. B., Gaffney, P. R. J., Reese, C. B., McCormick, F., Tempst, P., Coadwell, J., & Hawkins, P. T. (1998). Prohtein kinase B kinases that mediate phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5- trisphosphatedependent activation of protein kinase B. *Science*, 279(5351), 710–714. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.279.5351.710
- Stoker, A. W. (2005). Protein tyrosine phosphatases and signalling. *Journal of Endocrinology*, *185*(1), 19–33. https://doi.org/10.1677/JOE.1.06069
- Stolz, A., Ernst, A., & Dikic, I. (2014). Cargo recognition and trafficking in selective autophagy. *Nature Cell Biology*, 16(6), 495–501. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2979
- Strozyk, E., sciences, D. K.-I. journal of molecular, & 2013, undefined. (2013). The role of AKT/mTOR pathway in stress response to UV-irradiation: implication in skin carcinogenesis by regulation of apoptosis, autophagy and senescence. *Mdpi.Com*, 14, 14. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms140815260
- Su, M., Mei, Y., & Sinha, S. (2013a). Role of the Crosstalk between Autophagy and Apoptosis in Cancer. *Journal of Oncology*, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/102735
- Su, M., Mei, Y., & Sinha, S. (2013b). Role of the Crosstalk between Autophagy and Apoptosis in Cancer. *Journal of Oncology*, 2013. https://doi.org/10.1155/2013/102735
- Sung, H., Ferlay, J., Siegel, R. L., Laversanne, M., Soerjomataram, I., Jemal, A., & Bray, F. (2021). Global Cancer Statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN Estimates of Incidence and Mortality Worldwide for 36 Cancers in 185 Countries. *CA: A Cancer Journal for Clinicians*, 71(3), 209–249. https://doi.org/10.3322/CAAC.21660
- Tabernero, L., Aricescu, A. R., Jones, E. Y., & Szedlacsek, S. E. (2008). Protein tyrosine phosphatases: Structure-function relationships. *FEBS Journal*, 275(5), 867–882. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1742-4658.2008.06251.X
- Tartaglia, M., & Gelb, B. D. (2005). Germ-line and somatic PTPN11 mutations in human disease. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmg.2005.03.001

- Tartaglia, M., Mehler, E. L., Goldberg, R., Zampino, G., Brunner, H. G., Kremer, H., van der Burgt, I., Crosby, A. H., Ion, A., Jeffery, S., Kalidas, K., Patton, M. A., Kucherlapati, R. S., & Gelb, B. D. (2001). *Mutations in PTPN11, encoding the protein tyrosine phosphatase SHP-2, cause Noonan syndrome*. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng772
- Tautz, L., & Mustelin, T. (2007). Strategies for developing protein tyrosine phosphatase inhibitors. *Methods*, 42(3), 250–260. https://www.academia.edu/16032226/Strategies_for_developing_protein_tyrosine_phosphat ase_inhibitors
- ten Hoeve, J., de Jesus Ibarra-Sanchez, M., Fu, Y., Zhu, W., Tremblay, M., David, M., & Shuai, K. (2002). Identification of a Nuclear Stat1 Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 22(16), 5662–5668. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.22.16.5662-5668.2002
- Thoresen, S. B., Pedersen, N. M., Liestøl, K., & Stenmark, H. (2010). A phosphatidylinositol 3kinase class III sub-complex containing VPS15, VPS34, Beclin 1, UVRAG and BIF-1 regulates cytokinesis and degradative endocytic traffic. *Experimental Cell Research*, 316(20), 3368–3378. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.YEXCR.2010.07.008
- Tiganis, T., & Bennett, A. M. (2007). Protein tyrosine phosphatase function: the substrate perspective. *Biochemical Journal*, 402(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1042/BJ20061548
- Tiganis, T., Flint, A. J., Adam, S. A., & Tonks, N. K. (1997). Association of the T-cell protein tyrosine phosphatase with nuclear import factor p97. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(34), 21548–21557. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.272.34.21548
- Tillmann, U., Wagner, J., Boerboom, D., Westphal, H., & Tremblay, M. L. (1994). Nuclear localization and cell cycle regulation of a murine protein tyrosine phosphatase. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 14(5), 3030–3040. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.14.5.3030-3040.1994
- Toker, A., & Newton, A. C. (2000). Akt/Protein Kinase B Is Regulated by Autophosphorylation at the Hypothetical PDK-2 Site. http://newtonlab.ucsd.edu/documents/TokerandNewton2000.pdf
- Tonks, N. K. (2005). Redox redux: Revisiting PTPs and the control of cell signaling. *Cell*, *121*(5), 667–670. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2005.05.016
- Tonks, N. K. (2006). Protein tyrosine phosphatases: from genes, to function, to disease. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 7(11), 833–847. https://go.gale.com/ps/i.do?p=HRCA&sw=w&issn=14710072&v=2.1&it=r&id=GALE%7 CA188912258&sid=googleScholar&linkaccess=fulltext
- Tonks, N. K., Diltz, C. D., & Fischer, E. H. (1988). Purification of the major protein-tyrosinephosphatases of human placenta. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 263(14), 6722–6730. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(18)68702-2

- Tonks, N. K., & Neel, B. G. (1996). From form to function: Signaling by protein tyrosine phosphatases. *Cell*, 87(3), 365–368. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81357-4
- Torii, S., Yoshida, T., Arakawa, S., Honda, S., Nakanishi, A., & Shimizu, S. (2016). Identification of PPM1D as an essential Ulk1 phosphatase for genotoxic stress-induced autophagy. *EMBO Reports*, 17(11), 1552. https://doi.org/10.15252/EMBR.201642565
- Tournier, C., Hess, P., Yang, D. D., Xu, J., Turner, T. K., Nimnual, A., Bar-Sagi, D., Jones, S. N., Flavell, R. A., & Davis, R. J. (2000). Requirement of JNK for stress-induced activation of the cytochrome c- mediated death pathway. *Science*, 288(5467), 870–874. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.288.5467.870
- Tsapras, P., & Nezis, I. P. (2017). Caspase involvement in autophagy. *Cell Death and Differentiation*, 24(8), 1369. https://doi.org/10.1038/CDD.2017.43
- Turkson, J., & Jove, R. (2000). STAT proteins: Novel molecular targets for cancer drug discovery. *Oncogene*, 19. www.nature.com/onc
- Udristioiu, A., & Nica-Badea, D. (2019). Autophagy dysfunctions associated with cancer cells and their therapeutic implications. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy = Biomedecine & Pharmacotherapie*, *115*. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPHA.2019.108892
- Urban, K., Mehrmal, S., Uppal, P., Giesey, R. L., & Delost, G. R. (2021). The global burden of skin cancer: A longitudinal analysis from the Global Burden of Disease Study, 1990–2017. *JAAD International*, 2, 98. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JDIN.2020.10.013
- Vadlakonda, L., Dash, A., Pasupuleti, M., Kumar, K. A., & Reddanna, P. (2013). The paradox of Akt-mTOR interactions. *Frontiers in Oncology*, 3 JUN. https://doi.org/10.3389/FONC.2013.00165/FULL
- Van Opdenbosch, N., & Lamkanfi, M. (2019). Caspases in cell death, inflammation and disease. *Immunity*, 50(6), 1352. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IMMUNI.2019.05.020
- Vargas, J. N. S., Hamasaki, M., Kawabata, T., Youle, R. J., & Yoshimori, T. (2023). The mechanisms and roles of selective autophagy in mammals. *Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology*, 24(3), 167–185. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41580-022-00542-2
- Varisli, L., Cen, O., & Vlahopoulos, S. (2020). Dissecting pharmacological effects of chloroquine in cancer treatment: interference with inflammatory signaling pathways. *Immunology*, 159(3), 257–278. https://doi.org/10.1111/IMM.13160
- Vivanco, I., & Sawyers, C. L. (2002). The phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase-AKT pathway in human cancer. *Nature Reviews Cancer*, 2(7), 489–502. https://go.gale.com/ps/i.do?p=AONE&sw=w&issn=1474175X&v=2.1&it=r&id=GALE%7 CA185623120&sid=googleScholar&linkaccess=fulltext
- von Montfort, C., Sharov, V. S., Metzger, S., Schöneich, C., Sies, H., & Klotz, L. O. (2006). Singlet oxygen inactivates protein tyrosine phosphatase-1B by oxidation of the active site

cysteine. *Biological Chemistry*, *387*(10–11), 1399–1404. https://doi.org/10.1515/BC.2006.175

- Vrechi, T. A. M., Leão, A. H. F. F., Morais, I. B. M., Abílio, V. C., Zuardi, A. W., Hallak, J. E. C., Crippa, J. A., Bincoletto, C., Ureshino, R. P., Smaili, S. S., & Pereira, G. J. S. (2021). Cannabidiol induces autophagy via ERK1/2 activation in neural cells. *Scientific Reports* 2021 11:1, 11(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-84879-2
- Wan, Y. S., Wang, Z. Q., Shao, Y., Voorhees, J. J., & Fisher, G. J. (2001). Ultraviolet irradiation activates PI 3-kinase/AKT survival pathway via EGF receptors in human skin in vivo. *International Journal of Oncology*, 18(3), 461–466. https://doi.org/10.3892/IJO.18.3.461
- Wang, H. Q., Quan, T., He, T., Franke, T. F., Voorhees, J. J., & Fisher, G. J. (2003). Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor-dependent, NF-kB-independent Activation of the Phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase/Akt Pathway Inhibits Ultraviolet Irradiation-induced Caspases-3, -8, and -9 in Human Keratinocytes. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 278(46), 45737–45745. https://doi.org/10.1074/JBC.M300574200
- Wang, Y., Ning, H., Ren, F., Zhang, Y., Rong, Y., Wang, Y., Su, F., Cai, C., Jin, Z., Li, Z., Gong, X., Zhai, Y., Wang, D., Jia, B., Qiu, Y., Tomita, Y., Sung, J. J. Y., Yu, J., Irwin, D. M., ... Chang, Z. (2014). GdX/UBL4A specifically stabilizes the TC45/STAT3 association and promotes dephosphorylation of STAT3 to repress tumorigenesis. *Molecular Cell*, 53(5), 752–765. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MOLCEL.2014.01.020
- Wang, Y., Qiu, Q., Shen, J. J., Li, D. D., Jiang, X. J., Si, S. Y., Shao, R. G., & Wang, Z. (2012). Cardiac glycosides induce autophagy in human non-small cell lung cancer cells through regulation of dual signaling pathways. *The International Journal of Biochemistry & Cell Biology*, 44(11), 1813–1824. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOCEL.2012.06.028
- Xi, H., Wang, S., Wang, B., Hong, X., Liu, X., Li, M., Shen, R., & Dong, Q. (2022). The role of interaction between autophagy and apoptosis in tumorigenesis (Review). *Oncology Reports*, 48(6). https://doi.org/10.3892/OR.2022.8423
- Xiong, L., Liu, Z., Ouyang, G., Lin, L., Huang, H., Kang, H., Chen, W., Miao, X., & Wen, Y. (2017). Autophagy inhibition enhances photocytotoxicity of Photosan-II in human colorectal cancer cells. *Oncotarget*, 8(4), 6419. https://doi.org/10.18632/ONCOTARGET.14117
- Xu, Y., Shao, Y., Voorhees, J. J., & Fisher, G. J. (2006). Oxidative Inhibition of Receptor-type Protein-tyrosine Phosphatase Î^o by Ultraviolet Irradiation Activates Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor in Human Keratinocytes*. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M602355200
- Yang, Y., Gil, M., Byun, S. M., Choi, I., Pyun, K. H., & Ha, H. (1996). Transforming growth factor-beta 1 inhibits human keratinocyte proliferation by upregulation of a receptor-type tyrosine phosphatase R-PTP-kappa gene expression. *BIOCHEMICAL AND BIOPHYSICAL RESEARCH COMMUNICATIONS*, 228(3), 807–812. https://doi.org/10.1006/BBRC.1996.1736

- Yecies, J. L., & Manning, B. D. (2011). MTOR links oncogenic signaling to tumor cell metabolism. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*, 89(3), 221–228. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00109-011-0726-6
- Yeh, P. S., Wang, W., Chang, Y. A., Lin, C. J., Wang, J. J., & Chen, R. M. (2016). Honokiol induces autophagy of neuroblastoma cells through activating the PI3K/Akt/mTOR and endoplasmic reticular stress/ERK1/2 signaling pathways and suppressing cell migration. *Cancer Letters*, 370(1), 66–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CANLET.2015.08.030
- Yorimitsu, T., & Klionsky, D. J. (2005). Autophagy: molecular machinery for self-eating. *Cell Death & Differentiation*, *12*(2), 1542–1552.
- You-Ten, K. E., Muise, E. S., Itié, A., Michaliszyn, E., Wagner, J., Jothy, S., Lapp, W. S., & Tremblay, M. L. (1997). Impaired bone marrow microenvironment and immune function in T cell protein tyrosine phosphatase-deficient mice. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 186(5), 683–693. https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.186.5.683
- Yu, L., Chen, Y., & Tooze, S. A. (2018). Autophagy pathway: Cellular and molecular mechanisms. *Autophagy*, 14(2), 207. https://doi.org/10.1080/15548627.2017.1378838
- Yun, C. W., & Lee, S. H. (2018). The Roles of Autophagy in Cancer. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 19(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS19113466
- Zaffagnini, G., & Martens, S. (2016). Mechanisms of Selective Autophagy. *Journal of Molecular Biology*, 428(9Part A), 1714. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JMB.2016.02.004
- Zeke, A., Misheva, M., ... A. R.-M. M. B., & 2016, undefined. (2016). JNK Signaling: Regulation and Functions Based on Complex Protein-Protein Partnerships. *Core.Ac.Uk*, 80(3), 793–835. https://doi.org/10.1128/MMBR.00043-14
- Zhang, J. Y., & Selim, M. A. (2012). The role of the c-Jun N-terminal Kinase signaling pathway in skin cancer. *American Journal of Cancer Research*, 2(6), 691–698. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/pmid/23226615/?tool=EBI
- Zhang, Z., Dodd, G., & Tiganis, T. (2015). Protein tyrosine phosphatases in hypothalamic insulin and leptin signaling. https://scholarworks.iupui.edu/handle/1805/9440
- Ziegler, A., Jonason, A. S., Leffellt, D. J., Simon, J. A., Sharma, H. W., Kimmelman, J., Remington, L., Jacks, T., & Brash, D. E. (1994). Sunburn and p53 in the onset of skin cancer. *Nature*, 372(6508), 773–776. https://doi.org/10.1038/372773a0

APPENDIX

APPENDIX

Table 1: List of some reagents used with the manufacturers and catalogue numbers.

Item	Manufacturer	Catalogue/Item No.
Annexin V-FITC	PromoKine	PK-CA577-K101-100
DMEM	Corning	10-017-CV
0.25% Trypsin-EDTA	Corning	25-053-CI
Sodium Pyruvate	Corning	25-000-CI
Penicillin-Streptomycin	Corning	30-002-CI
Non-Essential Amino Acids	Corning	25-025-CI
Pierce RIPA Buffer	Thermo Scientific	89901
Tris/Glycine/SDS Buffer	Bio-Rad	1610732
Transblot Turbo Buffer	Bio-Rad	10026938
Fetal Bovine Serum	Gibco	16000-044
DPBS	Lonza	17-512Q
TBS Tween 20 Buffer	Thermo Scientific	28360
Cell Counting Kit-8	Dojindo Molecular Tech. Inc.	Fisher, NC1608117
Bovine Serum Albumin	Fisher Scientific	CAS 9048-46-8
Immobilon Western	Millipore	WBKLS0500
Chemiluminscent HRP Substrate		
Chloroquine	Selleckchem	S6999
3-Methyl Adenine	Selleckchem	S2767
Bambanker	GC Lymphotec Inc.	302-14681 (CS-02-001)
Albumin Standard	Thermo Scientific	23209
Pierce BCA Protein Assay	Thermo Scientific	23228 / 23224
Reagents A / B		

ABBREVIATIONS

TC-PTP	T cell protein tyrosine phosphatase	
UV	Ultraviolet	
РТК	Protein Tyrosine Kinase	
РТР	Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase	
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid	
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid	
siRNA	Small interfering RNA	
РКВ	Protein kinase B	
Bcl-2	B-cell lymphoma 2	
LC3	Microtubule-associated protein 1A/1B-light chain 3	
ATG	Autophagy-related gene	
ULK	Unc-51 Like Autophagy Activating Kinase	
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium	
3MA	3-Methyladenine	
CQ	Chloroquine	
FLIP	Viral FLICE-inhibitory proteins	
ROS	Reactive oxygen species	
mTOR	The mammalian target of rapamycin	

BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH

Obed Asare earned his MSc degree in Biochemistry and Molecular Biology from the University of Texas Rio Grande Valley (UTRGV) in July 2023. He completed his BSc degree in Biochemistry from Kwame Nkrumah University of Science and Technology in Ghana and studied Molecular Life Science at the University of Bern in Switzerland for a semester. Obed was selected as an awardee of the Presidential Research Fellowship Award, which led him to enroll at UTRGV. He worked as a Graduate Research Assistant in Dr. Kim's laboratory at UTRGV's School of Medicine, where he conducted research to understand the intricate interplay between autophagy and apoptosis in damaged keratinocytes following Ultraviolet B irradiation.

He has gained admission to study for a PhD in Biomedical Sciences with specialization in Cancer Biology at the University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center. He is an ambitious and versatile biochemist in quest of insights into tumor immunology, with the long term goal to contribute to tumor immunodiagnostics and therapies. He aspires to conduct intensive research in tumor immunology in reputable institutions and to nurture the next generation of cancer scientists, particularly in Africa. He can be contacted through email at obedasare14@gmail.com.